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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

 
 
 
Your directors present their report on the consolidated entity consisting of Automotive Technology Group Limited and the 
entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2008. 
 
Directors 
 
The names and details of the Company’s Directors in office during the financial year and until the date of this report are as 
follows. Directors were in office for this entire period unless otherwise stated. 
 
Names, qualifications, experience and responsibilities 
Mr Richard John Siemens (Non-Executive Chairman) 
Mr Siemens is the Chairman of e-Kong Group Limited, a company listed on the main board of the Hong Kong Stock 
Exchange, and the Chairman and a founding member of the Distacom Group, a privately-held group of companies in mobile 
telecommunication business. Born and raised in Canada, Mr. Siemens was trained as a Chartered Accountant and moved to 
Hong Kong in 1979. In 1984, he formed Hutchison Telephone Company Limited in partnership with Hutchison Whampoa 
and Motorola. While Group Managing Director of Hutchison Telecommunications Limited, Mr. Siemens was instrumental 
in the establishment of other leading companies including AsiaSat (the first satellite company in Asia), STAR TV, Metro 
Radio (the radio station awarded with the first private radio licence granted by the Hong Kong Government in 25 years) and 
Hutchison’s move into the European wireless business under the brand “Orange”. His financial acumen and entrepreneurial 
leadership is also key to establishing mobile telecommunication businesses across the world led by Distacom including 
SUNDAY in Hong Kong, Blu in Italy, Spice in India and Madacom in Madagascar. Mr Siemens has been a director and 
major investor in ATG since August 2005. 
 
Mr Steven James Apedaile (Executive Director – Corporate) 
Mr Apedaile is a founding Executive Director and major investor since 2003. He is a former Chairman of the Group having 
extensive overseas experience as a resident of Hong Kong for nearly 25 years, the first 7 with KPMG Hong Kong and then 
18 years with Horwath Hong Kong. Mr Apedaile was an Audit Director of Horwath and is experienced in all facets of 
international business and corporate finance. Mr Apedaile has been involved in merger and acquisitions and the raising of 
capital, both equity and debt for clients. He has also provided expertise in audits in connection with public stock offerings, 
both in Hong Kong and on Nasdaq. Mr Apedaile, a Chartered Accountant and previously a registered auditor, is responsible 
for the Group’s strategic planning and direction and all corporate matters including sales and marketing. 
 
Mr Anthony Robert Hamilton (Executive Director – Operations) 
Mr Hamilton prior to being a founding Executive Director and major investor since 2003 was based for the previous 10 
years in London until relocating back to Australia. He has significant automotive experience in Europe having worked as a 
consultant for a number of prestigious automotive manufacturers. During his time based in the UK, Mr Hamilton was 
engaged as a consultant on various specialist automotive acquisitions and assisted in the development of specialist low 
volume manufacturing procedures. In his last appointment he led the full ADR certification and production program for 
Bullet Supercars in Queensland. He has also held senior management positions in a number of public companies based in 
Europe and the USA. He is also an accomplished Motorsport competitor having raced both in Australia and Europe. Mr 
Hamilton is an Accountant by profession and a Fellow of the Institute of Directors in London and is responsible for the day 
to day running of the Company and oversees all facets of the operations. 
 
Directors’ Interests 
As at the date of this report, the interests of the Directors in the shares and options of Automotive Technology Group 
Limited were: 
 
 
Director 

Class A 
Converting 

performance 
shares 

Class B 
Converting 

performance 
shares 

 
Number of 

Ordinary 
Shares 

Number of 
Options over 

Ordinary 
Shares 

Mr R Siemens 3,335,458 3,335,458 13,860,170  1,500,000 
Mr S Apedaile 3,210,458 3,210,458 14,144,170 1,500,000 
Mr A Hamilton 3,210,458 3,210,458 13,863,170 1,500,000 
 9,756,374 9,756,374 41,867,510 4,500,000 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT’D) 

 
 
 
Company Secretary 
 
Mr Jay Richard Stephenson (Company Secretary) 
Mr Jay Stephenson holds a Master of Business Administration (UK), is a Certified Management Accountant (Canada), a 
Fellow of the Australian Institute of Chartered Secretaries and is a Member of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors. Mr Stephenson has been involved in manufacturing and business development for 20 years including the past 14 
years as Director, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary in both Australia and Canada for various listed and 
unlisted entities in resources, manufacturing, wine, hotels, and property. He has been involved in business acquisitions, 
mergers, initial public offerings, capital raisings, business restructuring as well as managing all areas of finance for 
companies. Mr Stephenson is currently non-executive director and company secretary of Drake Resources Limited and Aura 
Energy Limited and company secretary of Frontier Resources Limited, Revere Mining Limited, Stonehenge Metals Limited, 
Globe Securities Limited, Noah Resources Limited, and Alpha Uranium Limited. 
 
Chief Financial Officer 
 
Ms Eileen Chan (Chief Financial Officer) 
Ms Chan holds a Masters Degree in Commerce and has over 20 years accounting experience in both the professional and 
commercial accounting sectors and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants in Australia. Ms Chan has held several senior roles at Horwath Hong Kong, notably that of 
Director, Audit & Assurance for the last six years.  Ms Chan has extensive experience in IPOs, mergers and acquisitions, 
transaction support services, business financing, corporate compliance and due diligence work. Ms Chan joined the Group 
in September 2008 and will be responsible for and report to the Director - Corporate on all aspects of the group’s 
administration, IT, tax and compliance issues. 
 
Principal Activities 
 
The principal activity of Automotive Technology Group Limited and the entities it controlled for the financial year ended 30 
June 2008 remained the same as last year, being the manufacture and distribution of the patented range of Sprintex 
superchargers and Vee Two aftermarket and performance motorcycle accessories. 
 
Dividends 
 
No dividends have been declared or paid to shareholders at the date of this report. 
 
Review of Operations 
 
Throughout the 2008 financial year, Automotive Technology Group, (“ATJ”) significantly progressed the 
commercialisation of its green patented range of Sprintex® Superchargers.  ATJ has completed the development of three 
different supercharger configurations and substantially reduced the manufacturing costs on a per unit basis. 
 
The global push by regulators for significant reductions in emissions and more fuel efficient vehicles has provided ATJ 
(Sprintex® Superchargers) with a compelling case as a “MUST HAVE” technology for the worlds automotive 
manufacturers. 
 
ATJ established a distribution network by the appointment of key distributors in various global locations. 
 
ATJ has undertaken a wide range of research & development programs which have seen the development of six individual 
supercharger systems for the aftermarket and most notably the Mitsubishi TMR 380 limited edition. 
 
In June 2008 ATJ signed an agreement with ARE Engines Ltd to jointly evaluate the fuel saving and lower emission 
capability of the patented Almasi Rotary Engine. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT’D) 

 
 
 
Financial Review 
 
The financial result for the 2008 financial year reflects considerable capital expenditure in establishing the commercial 
viability of the patented Sprintex® Supercharger as well as establishing volume production procedures. The cost of 
completing the ATJ facilities for technical excellence, research and development and product testing has seen the emergence 
of a world class operation. 
 
Operating results 
The loss for the financial year was $5,457,159 when compared to a loss of $3,334,957 in the 2007 financial year, Sales for 
the year 2008 were $580,863 (2007, $1,102,777) with a gross profit of $279,221 (2007 $150,624). The improved margin 
reflects improved manufacturing procedures and cost controls. 
 
Significant market testing and warranty trials where undertaken in 2008 which impacted greatly on sales revenues. This 
trend is expected to be reversed as product is released to the markets through ATJ’s newly established distributor network. 
 
Results for 2008 year were also affected by: 
 
• Capital raising costs associated with ASX Listing ($264,643)  
• Share based payments ($401,050) 
• Reduction in foreign exchange gains ($132,352 compared to $645,022 in 2007) 
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
The consolidated cash flow statement illustrates that there was an increase in cash and cash equivalents in the year ended 30 
June 2008 of $2,417,929 (2007: $68,440). The increase in cash inflow in comparison with the prior year is caused by a 
number of factors. Financing activities generated a net cash inflow of $8,591,797 (2007: $4,657,462), mainly from funding 
obtained from the Initial Public Offering and Seed Capital placing.  The net increase in cash flows from financing activities 
has been offset by net outflows from operating activities of $5,750,036 (2007: $4,574,520). This increase in operating cash 
outflows compares to 30 June 2007 is largely due to significant market testing and warranty trials undertaken in 2008 which 
impacted on sales revenues and the capital raising costs related to the funding raising activities. A net increase in the amount 
of cash used for investing activities to $423,832 (2007: $14,505) was mainly attributable to more purchases of property, 
plant and equipment in enhancing the ATJ facilities. 
 
Asset and capital structure 
 CONSOLIDATED ENTITY PARENT ENTITY 
 2008 

$ 
2007 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2007 

$ 
     
Total borrowings 1,393,750 1,852,210 1,393,750 1,827,338 
Less: cash and cash equivalents (3,211,415) (14,345) (3,210,924) (5,486)
Net debt (1,817,665) 1,837,865 (1,817,174) 1,821,852 
Total equity 6,637,149 (4,164,442) 6,718,586 (4,018,192)
Total capital 4,819,484 (2,326,577) 4,901,412 (2,196,340)
     
Gearing ratio – net debt over total capital N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Gearing ratio – total debt over total equity 21% N/A 21% N/A 
 
Gearing ratio, defined as total borrowing over total equity, as at 30 June 2008 was 21%. The Group's policy allows up to 
35% of financing to be provided by net debt at any particular time. The Group is currently operating well within its stated 
policy. Management's policies for determining whether fixed or floating rates of interest are entered into are examined on a 
yearly basis.  
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT’D) 

 
 
 
Financial Review (cont’d) 
 
Capital expenditure 
There has been an increase in cash used to purchase property, plant and equipment for 30 June 2008 to $345,688 from 
$114,017 in the year ended 30 June 2007. As at 30 June 2008, the Group had capital commitments in respect of future 
capital expenditure of  $193,500.  
 
Profile of borrowings 
The profile of the Group’s debt finance is as follows: 
   2008 

$ 
2007 

$ 
Current     
Bank overdraft   723,342 84,201 
Insurance premium funding   89,034 162,797 
Finance lease liabilities   208,840 159,114 
   1,021,216 406,112 
Non current     
Finance lease liabilities   372,534 402,439 
Convertible note   - 1,043,659 
   372,534 1,446,098 
   1,393,750 1,852,210 
 
The Group's debts have decreased substantially over the last year. The Group anticipates that its debts will continue to 
decrease over the coming year as a result of improved sales trend through newly established distribution network. Of the 
Group's debts, 73% is repayable within one year of 30 June 2008, compared to 22% in the previous year. 
 
Risk management 
The Group takes a proactive approach to risk management. The Board is responsible for ensuring that risks, and also 
opportunities, are identified on a timely basis and that the Group's objectives and activities are aligned with the risks and 
opportunities identified by the Board. 
 
As the Company currently has only two executive directors, the Board has not established a separate risk management 
committee. Instead sub-committees are convened as appropriate with the relevant key management personnel in response to 
issues and risks identified by the Board as a whole, and the sub-committee further examines the issue and reports back to the 
Board. 
 
The Board has a number of mechanisms in place to ensure that management's objectives and activities are aligned with the 
risks identified by the Board. These include the following: 
 
• Board approval of a strategic plan, which encompasses the Group's vision, mission and strategy statements, designed to 

meet stakeholders' needs and manage business risk. 
• Implementation of Board approved operating plans and budgets and Board monitoring of progress against these 

budgets, including the establishment and monitoring of key performance indicators of both a financial and non-
financial nature. 

• The establishment of committees to report on specific business risks, including for example such matters as 
environmental issues and occupational health and safety. 

• The Company has mechanisms in place to get access to external professional advice in assisting the discharge of the 
Board's responsibilities to manage the organisation's financial risks including such matters as the Group's liquidity, 
currency, interest rate and credit policies and exposures and monitors management's actions to ensure they are in line 
with Group policy.  
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT’D) 

 
 
 
Significant Changes in the State of Affairs 
 
Total equity increased to $6,637,149 from a deficiency of asset of $4,164,442 at 30 June 2007, an increase of $10,801,591. 
The movement was largely the result of increase in contributed equity from (i) the capitalisation of the debt owed to the 
Company’s then parent Automotive Technology Group Limited (BVI) in the amount of $7,381,643 in February 2008; (ii) 
receipt of seed capital of $2,000,000 in March 2008 and (iii) the net proceeds from the Initial Public Offering in the amount 
of $5,434,293 in May 2008.  The increase in contributed equity has been used to finance the operating loss for the year of 
$5,457,159. Refer to note 19 for further information on movements in equity. 
 
Events Subsequent to Balance Date 
 
The Company and the Group had no significant events subsequent to balance date. 
 
Loss per Share 
 
Basic loss and diluted loss per share was $0.09 and $0.09 respectively. 
 
Employees 
 
The Group employed 30 persons as at 30 June 2008 (2007: 42 persons). 
 
Future Developments, Prospects and Business Strategies 
 
Refer to the Review of Operations section included in this Directors’ report. 
 
Environmental Issues 
 
The consolidated entity’s operations are not subject to any significant environmental regulations under either 
Commonwealth or State legislation. However, the Board believes that the consolidated entity has adequate systems in place 
for the management of its environmental requirements and is not aware of any breach of these environmental requirements 
as they apply to the consolidated entity. 
 
Share Information 
 
As at the date of this report, there were 6,500,000 unissued ordinary shares under options. Refer to the remuneration report 
for further details of the options outstanding. Option holders do not have any right, by virtue of the option, to participate in 
any share issue of the company or any related body corporate. During the year and up to the date of this report, no options 
have been exercised.  Details of the options are set out in note 24 to the financial statements. 
 
As at the date of this report, there are 17,099,500 Class “A” Converting Performance Shares and 17,099,500 Class “B” 
Converting Performance Shares outstanding.  Details of the shares are set out in note 19 to the financial statements. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT’D) 

 
 
Indemnification and Insurance of Directors 
 
The Company has entered into an Indemnity, Insurance and Access Deed with each Director and Officer. 
 
Pursuant to the Deed, the Director/Officer is indemnified by the Company against any liability incurred in that capacity as 
an officer of the Company to the maximum extent permitted by law subject to certain exclusions. 
 
The Company must keep a complete set of company documents until the later of: 
• the date which is seven years after the Director/Officer ceases to be an officer of the Company; and 
• the date after a final judgment or order has been made in relation to any hearing, conference, dispute, enquiry or 

investigation in which the Director/Officer is involved as a party, witness or otherwise because the Director is or was 
an officer of the Company (“Relevant Proceedings”). 

 
The Director has the right to inspect and/or copy a company document in connection with Relevant Proceedings during the 
period referred to above. 
 
Subject to the next sentence, the Company must maintain an insurance policy insuring the Director/Officer against liability 
as a director and officer of the Company while the Director/Officer is an officer of the Company and until the later of: 
 
• the date which is seven years after the Director/Officer ceases to be an officer of the Company; and 
• the date any Relevant Proceedings have been finally resolved. 
 
The Company may cease to maintain the insurance policy if the Company reasonably determines that the type of coverage is 
no longer available. 
 
No premiums have been paid in respect of insurance contract premiums during the year. 
 
Directors’ Meetings 
 
The number of meetings of directors held during the year and the attendance by each director were as follows: 
 
 
Name 

Number of meetings 
held 

Number of meetings 
attended 

   
Mr R Siemens  6 2 
Mr S Apedaile 6 6 
Mr A Hamilton  6 6 
 
In addition to physical meetings held, written resolutions of the Board together with full copies of related documents were 
circulated to all directors for consideration and approval. All such written resolutions were approved by all directors 
unanimously. 
 
Corporate Governance 
 
Corporate governance matters are discussed in Corporate Governance Statement on pages 15 to 18 of this report. 
 
Non-audit Services 
 
No non-audit services have been provided by the Company’s auditor, Ernst and Young during the year. 
 
Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
 
The auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2008 has been received and can be found on the next 
page. 
 



 
 

  Liability limited by a scheme approved 
under Professional Standards Legislation 

Pmi:kt:atg:003 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Directors of Automotive Technology Group Limited 
 
In relation to our audit of the financial report of Automotive Technology Group Limited for the year ended 30 
June 2008, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 or any applicable code of professional conduct. 
 

 
Ernst & Young 
 

 
 
 
P McIver 
Partner 
Perth 
30 September 2008 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT’D) 

 
 
 
Remuneration Report (Audited) 
 
This remuneration report outlines the director and executive remuneration arrangements of the Company and the Group in 
accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its Regulations. For the purpose of this report, key 
management personnel of the Group are defined as those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the major activities of the Company and the Group, directly or indirectly, including any director 
(whether executive or otherwise) of the parent company, and includes the five executives in the Company and the Group 
receiving the highest remuneration. 
 
Details of key management personnel (including the five highest executives of the Company and the Group) 
 
Names and positions held of the Company’s Directors and other key management personnel in office at any time during the 
financial year and up to the date of this report were: 
 
Parent Entity Directors 
Mr R Siemens ................................... Non-Executive Chairman 
Mr S Apedaile................................... Executive Director – Corporate 
Mr A Hamilton ................................. Executive Director – Operations 
 
Other Key Management Personnel 
Ms E Chan1....................................... Chief Financial Officer 
Mr J Upton........................................ Business Development Manager 
Mr R Griffin ..................................... Procurement & Operations Manager 
Mr S Wilkinson ................................ Sales & Marketing Manager 
Mr J Williams2.................................. Assembly, Inventory, Warranty and Distribution Manager 
Mr J Scoringe3 .................................. Chief Financial Officer & Joint Company Secretary 
Mr C Henry4 .................................... General Manager - Operations 
Mr J Lawrence5................................. Operations Manager 
1. Joined 9 September 2008 
2 Joined 21 May 2007 
3. Resigned 25 July 2008 
4. Resigned 1 December 2006 
5. Resigned 15 November 2007 
 
Remuneration Policy 
 
For the purposes of this report, the term key management personnel encompasses the Directors, Chief Financial Officer, 
Company Secretary and Departmental Managers of the Company and the Group. 
 
Each Director of the Company is entitled to such remuneration from the Company as the Directors decide, but the total 
amount provided to all non-executive directors must not exceed in aggregate the amount fixed by the Company in a general 
meeting. 
 
The Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for determining and reviewing remuneration arrangements for the 
directors and executives. The Board assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of remuneration of executives on 
a periodic basis by reference to relevant employment market conditions with the overall objective of ensuring maximum 
stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality, high performing director and executive team.  Options are issued as 
part of director and executive remuneration to encourage the alignment of personal and shareholder interests.  The Company 
does not link the nature and amount of the emoluments of such officers to the Company’s financial or operational 
performance.  The expected outcome of this remuneration structure is: 
 
• Retention and motivation of Directors 
• Performance rewards to allow Directors to share the rewards of the success of the Company 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT’D) 
 
 
 
Remuneration Report (Audited) (cont’d) 
 
Remuneration Policy (cont’d) 
 
The Board feels that the expiry date and exercise price of options currently on issue to the directors is sufficient to align the 
goals of the directors and executives with those of shareholders to maximise shareholders wealth, and as such, has not set 
any performance conditions for the directors and executives of the company.  The board will continue to monitor this to 
ensure that it is appropriate for the Company in future years. 
 
The Company has no policy on executives and directors entering into contracts to hedge their exposure to options or shares 
granted as part of their remuneration package. 
 
Remuneration Structure 
 
In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non-executive director and executive remuneration is 
separate and distinct. 
 
Non-Executive Director Remuneration 
Objective 

The Board seeks to set aggregate remuneration at a level that provides the Company with the ability to attract and retain 
directors of the highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost that is acceptable to shareholders. 
 
Structure 
The ASX Listing Rules specify that the aggregate remuneration of non-executive directors shall be determined from time to 
time by a general meeting. The aggregate remuneration for all non-executive Directors has been set at an amount of 
$300,000 per annum. The Directors have resolved that non-executive Director’s fee to the non-executive Chairman will be 
$150,000 per annum after consideration of fees paid to non-executive directors of comparable companies. The non-
executive directors do not receive retirement benefits. 
 
The amount of aggregate remuneration sought to be approved by shareholders and the fee structure is reviewed annually.  
 
Executive Directors and other Key Management Personnel Remuneration 
 
As part of its Corporate Governance Policies and Procedures, the board has adopted a formal Remuneration Committee 
Charter. Due to the current size of the Company and number of Directors, the board has elected not to create a separate 
Remuneration Committee but has instead decided to undertake the function of the Committee as a full Board under the 
guidance of the formal charter. The Company has no policy on executives and directors entering into contracts to hedge 
their exposure to options or shares granted as part of their remuneration package. 
 
The rewards for Directors have no set or pre-determined performance conditions or key performance indicators as part of 
their remuneration due to the current nature of the business operations. The Board determines appropriate levels of 
performance rewards as and when they consider rewards are warranted. 
 
The Company has entered into detailed service contract with the Executive Directors and a standard contract with other key 
management personnel. Details of these service contracts with the Executive Directors are provided below. 
 
Executive directors 
The Company has entered into a consultancy agreement with Powertraveller Pty Ltd (“Powertraveller”) for the provision of 
services by Mr Steven Apedaile as Executive Director - Corporate of the Company. Pursuant to the terms of this agreement, 
the Company will pay Powertraveller $35,000 per month for the term of the agreement (being 36 months from 1 June 2007) 
and is subject to a review on the anniversary date of the agreement, the increase of which shall not be less than 5% of the 
annual amount.. The agreement can be terminated by either party by the provision of notice equal to the term remaining of 
this agreement..  No other termination payment is payable upon completion of the term of the agreement and the agreement 
has no effect on compensation in the future. The Company advises that Powertraveller has waived its fee for June 2007 and 
has reduced its fee from July 2007 to February 2008 to $12,500 per month. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT’D) 

 
 
 
Remuneration Report (Audited) (cont’d) 
 
Remuneration Structure (cont’d) 
 
The Company has entered into a consultancy agreement with CMIH Enterprises Pty Ltd (“CMIH”) for the provision of 
services by Mr Anthony Hamilton as Executive Director - Operations of the Company. Pursuant to the terms of this 
agreement, the Company will pay CMIH $35,000 per month for the term of the agreement (being 36 months from 1 June 
2007) and is subject to a review on the anniversary date of the agreement, the increase of which shall not be less than 5% of 
the annual amount.. The agreement can be terminated by either party by the provision of notice equal to the term remaining 
of this agreement.  No other termination payment is payable upon completion of the term of the agreement and the 
agreement has no effect on compensation in the future. The Company advises that CMIH has waived its fee for June 2007 
and has reduced its fee from July 2007 to February 2008 to $12,500 per Month. 
 
All Directors are entitled to be paid reasonable travelling, accommodation and other expenses incurred in consequence of 
their attendance at Board meetings and otherwise in the execution of their duties as Directors. 
 
Other key management personnel 
Other key management personnel are given the opportunity to receive their remuneration in a variety of forms including 
cash and fringe benefits such as motor vehicles. It is intended that the manner of payment chosen will be optimal for the 
recipient without creating undue cost for the Group. 
 
The remuneration of directors and executives is detailed under the heading “Compensation of Key Management Personnel” 
below. 

 
The Company has established an employee share option plan (“ESOP”) for all employees of the Group during the year.  The 
ESOP is designed to provide eligible participants with an ownership interest in the Company and to provide additional 
incentives for eligible participants to increase profitability and returns to shareholders.  Details of the ESOP are set out in 
note 24 to the financial statements.  No options have been granted under the ESOP during the year ended 30 June 2008. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT’D) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008 
 
 
 
Compensation of Key Management Personnel (Consolidated) for the years ended 30 June 3008 and 2007 
 

  Short-term benefits 

Post 
employ-

ment  Long term Share based payment Total 

% 
Performance 

related 

% of 
remuneration 

consisting 
option 

Year ended 30 June 
2008  

 Salary & 
fees   Cash bonus 

 Non-
monetary 
benefits  

 Super-
annuation  

Long service 
leave Shares   Options   

  

  $   $   $   $   $  $   $    
Directors            
Mr R Siemens  150,000  - - -  - 92,550 242,550 - 38.16 
Mr S Apedaile  240,000  - -  -  -  92,550 332,550 - 27.83 
Mr A Hamilton  240,000   -  -   -  - 92,550 332,550 - 27.83 
Sub-total directors  630,000   -  -  -  - 277,650 907,650   
Other key management 
personnel      

  
    

Mr J Upton  140,000   -   -  -  -  - 140,000 - - 
Mr R Griffin  61,263  250 4,114 5,514  6,000  - 77,141 - - 
Mr S Wilkinson   88,891  250 4,770 7,289  -  - 101,200 - - 
Mr J Williams 55,026 250 - 4,952  5,000 - 65,228 - - 
Mr J Scoringe  127,769  250 10,894 12,869  - - 151,782 - - 
Mr J Lawrence  36,426   - 8,167 3,278  -  - 47,871 - - 
Sub-total key 
management personnel 509,375  1,000 27,945 33,902 

 
11,000  - 583,222   

Totals 1,139,375  1,000 27,945 33,902  11,000 277,650 1,490,872   
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A U T O M O T I V E  T E C H N O L O G Y  G R O U P  L I M I T E D  
A N D  C O N T R O L L E D  E N T I T I E S  

 
DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT’D) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008 
 
 
 

 Short-term benefits 

Post 
employmen

t  Long term  Share based payment Total 

% 
Performance 

related 

% of 
remuneration 

consisting 
options 

Year ended 30 June 
2007  

 Salary & 
fees  

 Cash 
bonus  

 Non-
monetary 
benefits  

 Super-
annuation  

Long service 
leave Shares  Options    

  $   $   $   $     $  $   
Directors            
Mr R Siemens  -  - - - - - - - - - 
Mr S Apedaile  20,000  - - - - - - 20,000 - - 
Mr A Hamilton  30,000  - -  - - - - 30,000 - - 
Sub-total directors  50,000   - -  - - - - 50,000   
Other key management 
personnel       

 
    

           
Mr J Upton  132,000  - -  - - - - 132,000 - - 
Mr S Wilkinson  72,917  - 3,906 6,563 - - - 83,386 - - 
Mr J Williams 5,897 - - 531 - - - 6,428 - - 
Mr J Scoringe  108,500  - 10,252 10,774 - - - 129,526 - - 
Mr C Henry  48,207    -  - - -  48,207 - - 
Mr J Lawrence  83,500  - 5,532 7,515 - - -  96,547 - - 
Sub-total other key 
management personnel 451,021 - 19,690 25,383 - - - 496,094   
Totals 501,021  - 19,690 25,383 - - - 546,094   
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A U T O M O T I V E  T E C H N O L O G Y  G R O U P  L I M I T E D  
A N D  C O N T R O L L E D  E N T I T I E S  

 
DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONT’D) 

 
 
 
Remuneration Report (Audited) (cont’d) 
 
Option holdings of key management personnel 

 
 
 
 
 
Directors 

 
 

Number of 
options 
granted 

 
 
 

Date of 
grant 

 
 
 

Fair value 
per option 

Value of 
option 

granted 
during the 

year 

 
 

Exercise 
price per 

option 

 
 
 
 

Expiry date 

 
Shares 

issued on 
exercise of 

options 
   $ $ $   
Mr R Siemens 1,500,000 28 Feb 2008 0.0617 92,550 0.3 31 Dec 2010 - 
Mr S Apedaile 1,500,000 28 Feb 2008 0.0617 92,550 0.3 31 Dec 2010 - 
Mr A Hamilton 1,500,000 28 Feb 2008 0.0617 92,550 0.3 31 Dec 2010 - 
 4,500,000   277,650    

 
All options are vested as at 30 June 2008.  No options have been granted to other key management personnel during the year 
ended 30 June 2008 and no options have been granted during the year ended 30 June 2007. 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 
 
 

 
______________________ 
Steven Apedaile 
Executive Director – Corporate 
Dated at Perth this 30th  day of September 2008. 
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A U T O M O T I V E  T E C H N O L O G Y  G R O U P  L I M I T E D  
A N D  C O N T R O L L E D  E N T I T I E S  

 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

 
 
 

The Board of Directors of ATG is responsible for the corporate governance of the Group. The Board guides and monitors 
the business affairs of the Company on the behalf of the shareholders by whom they are elected and to whom they are 
accountable. 
 
The format of the Corporate Governance Statement is in accordance with the Australian Stock Exchange Corporate 
Governance Council’s (the Council’s) “Principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best Practice Recommendations” 
(the recommendations). In accordance with the Council’s recommendations, the Corporate Governance Statement contains 
certain specific information and must disclose the extent to which the Company has followed the guidelines during the 
period. Where a recommendation has not been followed, that fact must be disclosed, together with reasons for the departure. 
ATG’s Corporate Governance Statement is now structured reference to the Corporate Governance Council’s principles and 
recommendations, which are as follows: 
 
Principle 1 Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 
Principle 2 Structure the Board to add value 
Principal 3 Promote ethical and responsible decision making 
Principle 4 Safeguard integrity in financial reporting 
Principle 5 Make timely and balances disclosures 
Principle 6 Respect the rights of shareholders 
Principle 7 Recognise and manage risk 
Principle 8 Encourage enhanced performance 
Principle 9 Remunerate fairly and responsibly 
Principle 10 Recognise the legitimate interests of stakeholders 
 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
 
Recommendation 2.4 requires listed entities to establish a nomination committee.  Recommendation 9.2 requires listed 
entities to establish a remuneration committee.  During the year ended 30 June 2008, ATG did not have a separately 
established nomination or remuneration committee.  However, the duties and responsibilities typically delegated to such 
committees are included in the responsibilities of the full Board. 
 
CFO Certification 
 
Corporate Governance Council Recommendation 7.2 requires the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to 
provide a written statement to the Board that: 
 
• their view provided on the Company's financial report is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal 

compliance and control which implements the financial policies adopted by the Board; and 
• that the Company's risk management and internal compliance and control system is operating effectively in all material 

respects. 
 
The Company’s Executive Director – Corporate, Steven Apedaile, has provided a written statement, however, the Chief 
Financial Officer during the year ended 30 June 2008 resigned on 25 July 2008. As such, no written statement from the 
Chief Financial Officer can be provided. The new Chief Financial Officer, Ms Eileen Chan, was appointed in September 
2008. 
 
With the exception of the departures from the Corporate Governance Council recommendations in relation to the 
establishment of a nomination committee and remuneration committee and that the management report in writing to the 
Board regarding the integrity of the Company’s financial reports as stated above, the corporate governance practices of 
ATG are compliant with the Council’s best practice recommendations. 
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A U T O M O T I V E  T E C H N O L O G Y  G R O U P  L I M I T E D  
A N D  C O N T R O L L E D  E N T I T I E S  

 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONT’D) 

 
 
 
Board Function 
 
The Board is accountable to the shareholders for the performance of the Company and will have overall responsibility for its 
operations. Day to day management of the Company’s affairs, and the implementation of the corporate strategy and policy 
initiatives, are formally managed by Mr Anthony Hamilton and Mr Steven Apedaile, both executive directors, while Mr 
Richard Siemens, a non- executive director and Chairman of the Board, provides leadership and contributes to the effective 
running of the Board. 
 
The key functions of the Board include: 
 
• approving the strategic direction and related objectives of the Company and monitoring management performance in 

the achievement of these objectives; 
• adopting budgets and monitoring the financial performance of the Company; 
• overseeing the establishment and maintenance of adequate internal controls and effective monitoring systems; 
• overseeing the implementation and management of effective safety and environmental performance systems; 
• ensuring all major business risks are identified and effectively managed; and 
• ensuring that the Company meets its legal and statutory obligations. 
 
There are procedures in place, agreed by the Board, to enable directors in furtherance of their duties to seek appropriate 
independent professional advice at ATG’s expense. 
 
Structure of the Board 
 
The skills, experience and expertise relevant to the position of director held by each director in office at the date of the 
annual report is included in the Directors' Report. Directors of ATG are considered to be independent when they are 
independent of management and free from any business or other relationship that could materially interfere with – or could 
reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with – the exercise of their unfettered and independent judgement. 
 
The terms in office held by each director in office at the date of this report is as follows: 
 
Name Position Term in Office 
Mr R Siemens  (Non-Executive Chairman) Appointed 29 August 2005 
Mr S Apedaile (Executive Director – Corporate) Appointed16 September 2003 
Mr A Hamilton  (Executive Director – Operations) Appointed 16 September 2003 
 
Trading Policy 
 
The Company has a formal policy for dealing in the Company’s securities by Directors, employees and contractors. This 
sets out their obligations regarding disclosure of dealing in the Company’s securities. The Constitution permits Directors to 
acquire securities in the Company; however Company policy prohibits Directors and senior management from dealing the 
Company’s securities at any time while in possession of price sensitive information and for 24 hours after: 
 
• any major announcements; 
• the release of the Company’s annual and half yearly financial results to the ASX; and 
• the annual general meeting. 
 
Directors must advise the Chairman of the Board before buying or selling securities in the Company. All such transactions 
are reported to the Board. In accordance with the provisions of the Corporations Act and the Listing Rules, the Company 
advises ASX of any transaction conducted by Directors in the securities of the Company. 
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A U T O M O T I V E  T E C H N O L O G Y  G R O U P  L I M I T E D  
A N D  C O N T R O L L E D  E N T I T I E S  

 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONT’D) 

 
 
 
Audit Committee 
 
The Board has established an Audit Committee, which operates under a charter approved by the Board. It is the Board's 
responsibility to ensure that an effective internal control framework exists within the entity.  
 
The committee’s primary responsibilities are to: 
 
• oversee the existence and maintenance of internal controls and accounting systems; 
• oversee the management of risk within the Company; 
• oversee the financial reporting process; 
• review the annual and half-year financial reports and recommend them for approval by the Board of Directors; 
• nominate external auditors; 
• review the performance of the external auditors and existing audit arrangements; and 
• ensure compliance with laws, regulations and other statutory or professional requirements, and the Company’s 

governance policies. 
 
The members of the Audit Committee during the year and up to the date of this report and the number of meetings and 
attendees at those meetings were: 
 

 
Name 

 No of meetings 
held 

Number of meetings 
attended 

    
Mr S Apedaile (Executive Director – Corporate) 1 1 
Mr A Hamilton (Executive Director – Operations) 1 1 
 
Risk 
 
The Board has identified the significant areas of potential business and legal risk of ATG. The identification, monitoring 
and, where appropriate, the reduction of significant risk to ATG will be the responsibility of the Board. 
 
To this end, comprehensive practices are in place that are directed towards achieving the following objectives: 
 
• effectiveness and efficiency in the use of the Company's resources; 
• compliance with applicable laws and regulations; 
• preparation of reliable published financial information. 
 
The Board reviews and monitors the parameters under which such risks will be managed. Management accounts were 
prepared and reviewed at Board meetings. Budgets were prepared and compared against actual results. 
 
Performance 
 
The performance of the Board and key executives is reviewed regularly against both measurable and qualitative indicators. 
During the reporting period, the Board conducted performance evaluations that involved an assessment of each Board 
member's and key executive's performance against specific and measurable qualitative and quantitative performance criteria. 
The performance criteria against which directors and executives are assessed are aligned with the financial and non-financial 
objectives of ATG. Key management personnel whose performance is consistently unsatisfactory may be asked to retire. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONT’D) 

 
 
 
Remuneration 
 
It is the Company's objective to provide maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality Board and 
executive team by remunerating directors and key executives fairly and appropriately with reference to relevant employment 
market conditions. The Company does not link the nature and amount of the emoluments of such officers to the Company’s 
financial or operational performance.  The expected outcomes of the remuneration structure are: 
 
• retention and motivation of key executives; 
• attraction of high quality management to the Company; and 
• performance rewards to allow executives to share in the success of ATG 
 
For a full discussion of the Company's remuneration philosophy and framework and the remuneration received by directors 
and executives in the current period please refer to the Remuneration Report, which is contained within the Directors' 
Report in pages 9 to 14. 
 
There is no scheme to provide retirement benefits to non-executive directors. 
 
The Board is responsible for determining and reviewing compensation arrangements for the directors themselves and the 
executive team. 
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A U T O M O T I V E  T E C H N O L O G Y  G R O U P  L I M I T E D  
A N D  C O N T R O L L E D  E N T I T I E S  

 
INCOME STATEMENT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008 
 
 

 
  CONSOLIDATED 

ENTITY 
 

PARENT ENTITY 

  2008 
$ 

2007 
$ 

2008 
$ 

2007 
$ 

 
 
 
 

     

Revenue 5 580,863 1,102,777 580,863 783,722 
Cost of goods sold 11 (301,642) (952,153) (301,642) (912,248)
Gross profit/(loss)  279,221 150,624 279,221 (128,526) 
      
Other revenue and gains 5 396,156 647,863 396,130 677,221 
      
Distribution & marketing expenses  (533,758) (371,704) (533,758) (317,979)
Occupancy expenses  (134,219) (149,941) (134,219) (149,941)
Corporate expenses  (720,337) (410,305) (720,337) (405,308)
Research & development expenses 5 (1,237,910) (965,794) (1,237,910) (798,750)
Administration expenses  (2,564,927) (1,939,447) (2,560,992) (1,499,021)
Depreciation & amortisation expenses 5 (291,242) (319,306) (285,378) (307,602)
Capital raising expenses  (264,643) - (264,643) - 
Share based payments 24 (401,050) - (401,050) - 
Write down of inventory  (135,335) - (135,335) - 
Impairment loss 5 - - (74,586) (1,859,299) 
Finance costs 5 (175,565) (285,856) (175,565) (274,957)
Loss before income tax expense  (5,783,609) (3,643,866) (5,848,422) (5,064,162)
Income tax benefit 6 326,450 308,909 326,450 308,909 
      
Net loss for the year  (5,457,159) (3,334,957) (5,521,972) (4,755,253)
     
     
Loss per share attributable to the ordinary equity 
holders of the Company     
Basic loss per share 7 (0.09) N/A   
Diluted loss per share 7 (0.09) N/A   
 
There is no comparative figure as the Company was not listed until 29 May 2008. 

 
 
 

The Income Statements should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements. 
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A U T O M O T I V E  T E C H N O L O G Y  G R O U P  L I M I T E D  
 A N D  C O N T R O L L E D  E N T I T I E S  

 
BALANCE SHEET 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2008 
 
 
 

  CONSOLIDATED 
ENTITY 

 

PARENT ENTITY 

 NOTES 2008 
$ 

2007 
$ 

2008 
$ 

2007 
$ 

 
 
 

     

 
CURRENT ASSETS 
 Cash and cash equivalents 
 Trade and other receivables 
 Inventories 

 
 

9 
10 
11 

 
 

3,211,415 
325,108 

1,941,550 

 
 

14,345 
192,338 

1,703,669 

 
 

3,210,924 
325,108 

1,941,550 

 
 

5,486 
183,451 

1,703,669 
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  5,478,073 1,910,352 5,477,582 1,892,606 
      
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

Investments in controlled entities 
Receivables 
Property, plant and equipment 
Goodwill & intellectual property 

 
22 
12 
13 
14 

 
- 

15,000 
3,025,491 

509,417 

 
- 
- 

2,680,890 
509,417 

 
623,536 

15,000 
2,993,300 

- 

 
619,692 

- 
2,642,508 

- 
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  3,549,908 3,190,307 3,631,836 3,262,200 
      
TOTAL ASSETS  9,027,981 5,100,659 9,109,418 5,154,806 
      
 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 
 Trade and other payables 
 Interest bearing liabilities 
 Provisions 
 Other liabilities 

 
 

15 
16 
17 
18 

 
 

873,956 
1,021,216 

105,154 
17,972 

 
 

6,848,335 
406,112 
158,729 

- 

 
 

873,956 
1,021,216 

105,154 
17,972 

 
 

6,819,971 
399,255 
119,862 

- 
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  2,018,298 7,413,176 2,018,298 7,339,088 
      
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES      
 Interest bearing liabilities 16 372,534 402,439 372,534 384,424 
 Other liabilities 18 - 1,449,486 - 1,449,486 
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  372,534 1,851,925 372,534 1,833,910 
      
TOTAL LIABILITIES  2,390,832 9,265,101 2,390,832 9,172,998 
      
NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)  6,637,149 (4,164,442) 6,718,586 (4,018,192)
      
 
EQUITY 
 Contributed equity 
 Reserves 

 
 

19 
20 

 
 

20,615,323 
1,233,138 

 
 

4,900,463 
689,248 

 
 

20,615,323 
1,233,138 

 
 

4,900,463 
689,248 

 Accumulated losses  (15,211,312) (9,754,153) (15,129,875) (9,607,903)
TOTAL EQUITY  6,637,149 (4,164,442) 6,718,586 (4,018,192)
 
 
 

The Balance Sheets should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements. 
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A U T O M O T I V E  T E C H N O L O G Y  G R O U P  L I M I T E D  
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008 
 
 

 
 Contributed equity Reserves   

 
 
CONSOLIDATED ENTITY 

Ordinary 
shares 

Convertible 
note  

equity 

Asset  
revaluation 

reserve 

Share 
option  
reserve 

Accumulated 
losses Total 

 Note 19 Note 20 (a) Note 20 (b) Note 20 (c)   
 $ $ $ $ $ $ 
       

Balance at 1 July 2006 4,594,988 305,475 - - (6,419,196) (1,518,733) 
Net income recognised directly 
in equity - Revaluation increase 
of land and buildings, net of 
deferred tax (note 13) - - 689,248 - - 689,248 

Loss for the year - - - - (3,334,957) (3,334,957) 
Total recognised income and 
 expenses for the year - - 689,248 - (3,334,957) (2,645,709)

       
Balance at 30 June 2007 4,594,988 305,475 689,248 - (9,754,153) (4,164,442)
       
Net income recognised directly 
in equity - Revaluation increase 
of land and buildings, net of 
deferred tax (note 13) - - 142,840 - - 142,840 

Loss for the year - - - - (5,457,159) (5,457,159)
Total recognised income and 
 expenses for the year - - 142,840 - (5,457,159) (5,314,319)

       
Issue of shares  15,425,643 - - - - 15,425,643 
Group reorganisation 4,399     4,399 
Share issue expenses (609,707) - - - - (609,707)
Conversion of convertible note 1,200,000 (305,475) - - - 894,525 
Recognition of share-based 
 payments - - - 401,050 - 401,050 
Balance at 30 June 2008 20,615,323 - 832,088 401,050 (15,211,312) 6,637,149 

       
 
 
 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements. 
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 A N D  C O N T R O L L E D  E N T I T I E S  

 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONT’D) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008 
 
 
 

 Contributed equity Reserves   
 
 
PARENT ENTITY 

Ordinary 
shares 

Convertible 
note 

equity 

Asset  
revaluation 

reserve 

Share 
option 
reserve 

Accumulated
losses Total 

 Note 19 Note 20 (a) Note 20 (b) Note 20 (c)   
 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

       
Balance at 1 July 2006 4,594,988 305,475 - - (4,852,650) 47,813 

 
Net income recognised directly in 
equity - Revaluation increase of land 
and buildings, net of deferred tax 
(note 13) - - 689,248 - - 689,248 

Loss for the year - - - - (4,755,253) (4,755,253) 
Total recognised income and 
 expenses for the year - - 689,248 - (4,755,253) 

 
(4,066,005) 

       
Balance at 30 June 2007 4,594,988 305,475 689,248 - (9,607,903) (4,018,192) 
       
Net income recognised directly in 
equity - Revaluation increase of land 
and buildings, net of deferred tax 
(note 13) - - 142,840 - - 142,840 

Loss for the year - - - - (5,521,972) (5,521,972) 
Total recognised income and 
 expenses for the year - - 142,840 - (5,521,972) 

 
(5,379,132) 

       
Issue of shares  15,425,643 - - - - 15,425,643 
Group reorganisation 4,399 - - - - 4,399 
Share issue expenses (609,707) - - - - (609,707) 
Conversion of convertible note 1,200,000 (305,475) - - - 894,525 
Recognition of share-based  payments - - - 401,050 - 401,050 
       
Balance at 30 June 2008 20,615,323 - 832,088 401,050 (15,129,875) 6,718,586 

 
 
 
 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements. 
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A U T O M O T I V E  T E C H N O L O G Y  G R O U P  L I M I T E D  
 A N D  C O N T R O L L E D  E N T I T I E S  

 
CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008 
 
 
 

  CONSOLIDATED 
ENTITY 

 

PARENT ENTITY  

 NOTES 2008 
$ 

2007 
$ 

2008 
$ 

2007 
$ 

 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Receipts from customers 
Payments to suppliers and employees  
Interest and finance lease charges paid 
Interest received 
Grants received 

 
 

437,309 
(6,386,695)

(175,565)
48,465 

326,450 

 
 

1,207,408 
(5,930,557)

(161,894)
1,614 

308,909 

 
 

427,283 
(6,314,392) 

(175,565) 
48,463 

326,450 

 
 

893,772 
(4,910,626)

(150,956)
1,614 

308,909 
Net cash flows used in operating activities 21 (5,750,036) (4,574,520) (5,687,761) (3,857,287)
     
 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

    

Advances to related parties - - (74,586) (721,304)
Advances to non-related parties (15,000) - (15,000) - 
Placement of secured deposit (140,000) - (140,000) - 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 76,856 99,512 76,531 79,047 
Payments for property, plant and equipment (345,688) (114,017) (324,661) (114,017)

Net cash flows used in investing activities (423,832) (14,505) (477,716) (756,274)
     
 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

    

Proceeds from borrowings – related parties 1,278,452 4,136,433 1,278,452 4,136,433 
Foreign exchange variance 132,352 645,022 132,328 646,302 
Proceeds from borrowings – insurance premium 
funding 

 
133,552 

 
217,721 

 
133,552 

 
217,721 

Repayment of borrowings  - hire purchase contracts   (183,937) (172,317) (183,936) (145,112)
Repayment of borrowings – insurance premium 
funding (207,315) (169,397)

 
(207,315) (168,120)

Proceeds from share capital raising 8,048,400 - 8,048,400 - 
Capital raising costs capitalised (609,707) - (609,707) - 

Net cash flows generated from financing activities 8,591,797 4,657,462 8,591,774 4,687,224 
     
Net increase in cash held 2,417,929 68,440 2,426,297 75,663 
     
Cash at the beginning of the financial period (69,856) (138,296) (78,715) (154,378)
     
Cash at the end of the financial period 9 2,348,073 (69,856) 2,347,582 (78,715)

 
 
 

The Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008 
 
 
 

1. Corporate information 
 

Automotive Technology Group Limited (the “Company”) is a company limited by shares incorporated in Australia 
whose shares are publicly traded on the Australian Stock Exchange. The Company’s registered office is 73 Resource 
Way, Malaga WA 6090. 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 30 June 2008 comprise the 
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”). The nature of the operations and principal 
activities of the Group are described in the Directors Report. 
 
The financial statements of Automotive Technology Group Limited for the year ended 30 June 2008 were authorised 
for issue and approved by the Board of Directors on 30 September 2008. 

 
2. Significant accounting policies 
 
(a) Statement of compliance 

 
This financial report is a general purpose financial report which complies with Australian Accounting Standards 
(AASBs) (including Australian interpretations) as issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and 
the Corporations Act 2001. The financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) and interpretations as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. The parent entity financial 
statements and notes also comply with IFRS.  

 
(b) Basis of preparation 

 
The financial report has been prepared on the historical cost basis except for land and buildings and certain financial 
instruments, which have been measured at fair value. 

 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated 
financial statements, and have been applied consistently by Group entities. 

 
The consolidated entity has net assets of $6,637,149 as at 30 June 2008 (30 June 2007: net deficiency of assets of 
$4,164,442) and incurred an operating loss of $5,457,159 (2007: $3,334,957) for the year ended 30 June 2008. The 
consolidated entity's ability to continue as a going concern and meet its debts and future commitments as and when 
they fall due is dependent on a number of factors, including:  
 
• raising of working capital as and when required; and 
• delivery of existing and new products through the Group’s distribution network to generate sales revenues. 
 
The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis. In arriving at this position the directors have had 
regard to the fact that the Company has, or in the directors’ opinion will have access to, sufficient cash to fund 
administrative and other committed expenditure for a period of not less than 12 months from the date of this report. 

 
(c) Functional and presentation currency 

 
The financial report is presented in Australian dollars, which is the functional currency and the presentational 
currency of the Company and its Australian subsidiaries. 
 
The functional currency of the overseas subsidiary Automotive Technology Group (BVI) is United States dollars 
(USD) which is translated to presentational currency 
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(d) New accounting standards and interpretations 
 

At the date of authorisation of this financial report, the following standards and interpretations applicable to the 
Group were in issue but not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group: 
 

  Effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 

Revised AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements 1 July 2009 
Revised AASB 123 Borrowing Costs 1 July 2009 
AASB 8 Operating Segments 1 July 2009 
Revised AASB127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 1 July 2009 
Revised AASB 3 Business Combinations 1 July 2009 
AASB 2008-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standard – Share-Based 

Payment: Vesting Conditions and Cancellations 
1 July 2009 

Amendments to IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 1 January 2009 
 

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these new or revised standards or 
interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial application. 

 
(e) Basis of consolidation 

 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power to govern the financial 
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting 
rights that presently are exercisable are taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. 
 
The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent Company, using 
consistent accounting policies. Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may 
exist. 
 
Intra-group balances, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in 
full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 
 
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The purchase method of 
accounting involves allocating the cost of the business combination to the fair value of the assets acquired and the 
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. 
 
There is no minority interest in any subsidiary of the Group. 
 
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the parent’s financial statements. 
 

(f) Business combinations  
 

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations regardless of whether equity 
instruments or other assets are acquired. Cost is measured as the fair value of the assets given, shares issued or 
liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange plus costs directly attributable to the combination. Where 
equity instruments are issued in a business combination, the fair value of the instruments is their published market 
price as at the date of exchange. Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognised directly in 
equity. 
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(f) Business combinations (cont’d) 
 
Except for non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale (which are measured at fair value less costs 
to sell), all identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are 
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of the business combination over 
the net fair value of the Group's share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill. If the cost of 
acquisition is less than the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable net assets of the subsidiary, the 
difference is recognised as a gain in the income statement, but only after a reassessment of the identification and 
measurement of the net assets acquired. 

 
Where settlement of any part of the consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted to 
their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity's incremental borrowing rate, being 
the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and 
conditions. 

 
(g) Segment reporting 

 
The Group is operating in one segment, being the manufacture and distribution of the patented range of Sprintex 
superchargers and Vee Two aftermarket and performance motorcycle accessories. 

 
(h) Foreign currency translation 
 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency at the exchange rates ruling at the 
date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance 
sheet date. 
 
All exchange differences in the financial report are taken to the income statement. 
 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rate as at the date if the initial transaction. 
 
On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the overseas subsidiary are translated into the presentation currency of 
Automotive Technology Group Limited at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date and the results are 
transferred at the weighted average rate for the year. 
 
Exchange variations resulting from the translation are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve in equity. 

 
(i) Revenue recognition 

 
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable to the extent that it is 
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. The following 
specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised. 

 
Sale of Goods 
Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of the goods have passed to the buyer and can be 
measured reliably. Risks and rewards are considered passed to the buyer at the time of delivery of the goods to the 
customer. 
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(i) Revenue recognition (cont’d) 
 

Interest 
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues using the effective interest method. 

 
Effective interest method is a method of calculating the annualised cost of a financial asset or liability and allocating 
the interest income or expense over the relevant period using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net 
carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. 
 

(j) Income tax 
 

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities based on the current period's taxable income. The tax rates and tax 
laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 
 
Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 
 
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except: 
 
• where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in 

a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 
profit nor taxable profit; or 

• When the taxable temporary differences are associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests 
in joint ventures, and the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable 
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, 
except: 

 
• when the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or 

• when the deductible temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests 
in joint ventures, in which case a deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 
temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the 
temporary difference can be utilised. 

 
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income 
tax asset to be utilised. 
 
Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent 
that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 
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(j) Income tax (cont’d) 
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities shall be offset only if: 

 
(a) there is a legally enforceable right to set-off current tax assets against current tax liabilities; and  
(b) the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority 

on either: 
(i) the same taxable entity; or 
(ii) different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to 

realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant 
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered. 

 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the 
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantially 
enacted at the balance sheet date. 
 
Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in the income statement. 
 
Tax consolidation legislation 
The Company and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities implemented the tax consolidation legislation as of 
1 July 2004. 
 
The head entity, Automotive Technology Group Limited and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group 
continue to account for their own current and deferred tax amounts. The Group has applied the group allocation 
approach in determining the appropriate amount of current taxes and deferred taxes to allocate to members of the tax 
consolidated group. 
 
In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, The Company also recognises the current tax liabilities (or 
assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled 
entities in the tax consolidated group. 

 
(k) Other taxes 
 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of Goods and Services Tax (“GST”) except: 
 

(a) where the GST on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which 
case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as 
applicable; and 

(b) Receivables and payables are stated with amounts of GST included. 
 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the balance sheet. 

 
Cash flows are included in the Cash Flow Statement on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising 
from investing and financial activities, which are recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority, are classified 
as operating cash flows. 
 
Commitments or contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority. 
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(l) Loss per share 

 
Basic loss per share 
Basic loss per share is determined by dividing net profit after income tax attributable to members of the Company, 
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year. 

 
Diluted loss per share 
Diluted loss per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic loss per share to take into account the 
after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the 
weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential 
ordinary shares. 

 
(m) Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Cash and short-term deposits in the Balance Sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an 
original maturity date of twelve months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. For the purpose of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash 
equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Bank 
overdrafts are included within interest-bearing liabilities in current liabilities on the balance sheet. 

 
(n) Trade and other receivables 

 
Trade receivables, which generally have 0-30 day terms are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using effective interest method (note 2 (i) above), less an allowance for impairment. 
 
Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis at an operating unit level. Individual debts that are 
known to be uncollectible are written off when identified. An impairment provision is recognised when there is 
objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect the receivable. Financial difficulties of the debtor, default 
payments or debts more than 60 days overdue are considered objective evidence of impairment. The amount of the 
impairment loss is the receivable carrying amount compared to the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate. 

 
(o) Inventories 

 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. 
 
Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and conditions are accounted for as follows: 
 
Raw materials – purchase cost on a first in, first out basis.  
Finished goods and work in progress – cost of direct materials and labour and a proportion of manufacturing 
overheads based on normal operating capacity but excluding borrowing costs.  Costs are assigned on a first in, first 
out basis. 
 
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of 
completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 
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(p) Investments and other financial assets 
 

Investments and financial assets in the scope of AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are 
categorised as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity 
investments, or available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on the purpose for which the 
investments were acquired. Designation is re-evaluated at each financial year end, but there are restrictions on 
reclassifying to other categories.  
 
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of assets not at fair 
value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. 

 
Recognition and derecognition 
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date ie the date that the Group 
commits to purchase the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets under 
contracts that require delivery of the assets within the period established generally by regulation or convention in the 
market place. Financial assets are derecognised when the right to receive cash flows from the financial assets have 
expired or been transferred. 

 
Loans and receivables  
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market.  Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method (note 2(i) above).  
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired. These 
are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after balance date, which are 
classified as non-current. 

 
(q) Property, plant and equipment 

 
Recognition 
Plant and equipment and leasehold improvements are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation/amortisation and 
any impairment in value.  Such cost includes the cost of replacing parts that are eligible for capitalisation when the 
cost of replacing the parts is incurred. Similarly, when each major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in 
the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement only if it is eligible for capitalisation. All other 
repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

 
Land and buildings are measured at fair value, based on periodic but at least triennial valuations by external 
independent valuers who apply the International Valuations Standards Committee International Valuation Standards, 
less accumulated depreciation on buildings and less any impairment losses recognised after the date of the 
revaluation. 

 
Depreciation & amortisation 
Depreciation is calculated on a diminishing value basis over the estimated useful life of the asset as follows: 

 Building Improvements: 0-30% 
 Plant and Equipment: 15% 
 Engineering Equipment and software: 15-37.5% 
 Furniture and office equipment: 7.5-37.5% 
 Motor Vehicles: 18.75% 
 Leasehold Improvements: 30% 
 

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and amortisation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
financial year end. 
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(q) Property, plant and equipment (cont’d) 
 

Revaluations of land and buildings 
Any revaluation increment is credited to the asset revaluation reserve included in equity, except to the extent that it 
reverses a revaluation decrement for the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss, in which case the 
increment is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
Any revaluation decrement is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it offsets a previous revaluation 
increment for the same asset, in which case the decrement is debited directly to the asset revaluation reserve to the 
extent of the credit balance existing in the revaluation reserve for that asset. 
 
Any accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying amounts of the assets 
and the net amounts are restated to the revalued amounts of the assets. 
 
Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These are included in 
the income statement. 
 
Upon disposal or derecognition, any revaluation reserve relating to the particular asset being sold is transferred to 
retained earnings. 

 
Derecognition 
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no further future economic benefits 
are expected from its use or disposal. 

 
(r) Leases 
 

Leases are classified at their inception as either operating or finance leases based on the economic substance of the 
agreement so as to reflect the risks and benefits incidental to ownership. 

 
Operating leases 
The minimum lease payments made under operating leases are charged against profit or loss in equal instalments over 
the accounting periods covered by the lease term where the lessor effectively retains substantially all of the risks and 
benefits of ownership of the leased item. 
 
The cost of improvements to or on leasehold property is capitalised, disclosed as leasehold improvements and 
amortised. 

 
Finance leases 
Leases which effectively transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased item 
to the Group are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset, or, if lower, at the present 
value of the minimum lease payments and disclosed as property, plant and equipment under lease. A lease liability of 
equal value is also recognised. 
 
Capitalised lease assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the assets and the lease term. 
Minimum lease payments are allocated between interest expense and reduction of the lease liability with the interest 
expense calculated using the interest rate implicit in the lease and recognised directly in net profit. 
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(s) Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill 
 

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for 
impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other 
assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 
not be recoverable. 
 
At each reporting date, management assess whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, where an 
indicator of impairment exists, management makes a formal estimate of recoverable amount. Where the carrying 
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 
recoverable amount. 
 
Recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less cost to sell and value in use. It is determined for an individual 
asset, unless the asset’s value in use cannot be estimated to be close to its fair value less costs to sell and it does not 
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case, the 
recoverable amount is determined for the cash- generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

 
(t) Goodwill and intangibles 

 
Goodwill 
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost being the excess of the costs of the business 
combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment 
losses. 
 
Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate the 
carrying value may be impaired. 
 
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in business combination is from the acquisition date, 
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of 
units. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is so allocated: 

 
(a) represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for the internal management 

purposes; and 
(b) is not larger than a segment based on either the Group’s primary or the Group’s secondary reporting format 

determined in accordance with AASB 114 Segment reporting.  



 

   33 

A U T O M O T I V E  T E C H N O L O G Y  G R O U P  L I M I T E D  
A N D  C O N T R O L L E D  E N T I T I E S  

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008 
 

 
 
(t) Goodwill and intangibles (cont’d) 
 

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill 
related. When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss 
is recognised. 
 
When goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) and an operation within that unit 
is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the 
operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this manner is 
measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit 
retained. 
 
Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not subsequently reversed. 
 
Intangibles 
Intangible assets acquired separately or in a business combination are initially measured at cost. The cost of an 
intangible asset acquired in a business combination is its fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment 
losses. Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised and 
expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the year in which the expenditure is incurred. 

 
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are 
amortised over the useful life and tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may 
be impaired (see note 2(s) for methodology). The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible 
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year-end. Changes in the expected useful life or 
the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for 
prospectively by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, which is a change in accounting 
estimate. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in profit or loss in the expense 
category consistent with the function of the intangible asset. 
 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level consistent with the methodology outlined for goodwill above. Such intangibles are not 
amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed each reporting period to determine 
whether indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from 
indefinite to finite is accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate and is thus accounted for on a prospective 
basis. 
 
Research and development costs 
Research costs are expensed as incurred. An intangible asset arising from development expenditure on an internal 
project is recognised only when the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset 
so that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset 
will generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the development and the ability to 
measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development. Following the initial 
recognition of the development expenditure, the cost model is applied requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Any expenditure so capitalised is amortised over the 
period of expected benefit from the related project. 
 
The carrying value of an intangible asset arising from development expenditure is tested for impairment annually 
when the asset is not yet available for use, or more frequently when an indication of impairment arises during the 
reporting period. 
 
The Group’s intangible asset represents acquired intellectual property – patents and is amortised over the remaining 
life on a straight line basis. 
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(u) Trade and other payables 
 

Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost due to their short term nature they are not discounted. They 
represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid 
and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and 
services. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 

 
(v) Convertible notes 
 

Convertible notes are compound financial instruments where interest is paid annually in arrears. The component parts 
of compound instruments issued by the Group are classified separately as financial liabilities and equity in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.  At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability 
component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for a similar non-convertible instrument.  This 
amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis using the effective interest method (note 2(i) above) until 
extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s maturity date.  The increase in the liability due to the passage of 
time is recognised as a finance cost. 
 
The equity component is determined by deducting the amount of the liability component from the fair value of the 
compound instrument as a whole.  This is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax effects, and is not 
subsequently remeasured. 
 
Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and equity components of the convertible note based on the 
allocation of proceeds to the liability and equity components when the instruments are first recognised. 
 

(w) Borrowing costs 
 

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred, except where they are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or construction of qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. 

 
(x) Provisions 

 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it 
is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
 
Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under and insurance contract, the 
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense 
relating to any provision is presented in the income statement net of any reimbursement. 
 
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash 
flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the 
risks specific to the liability. 

 
Service warranties 
Provision is made for the estimated liability on all products still under warranty at balance date. The amount of the 
provision is the present value of the estimated cash flows expected to be required to settle the warranty obligations, 
having regard to the service warranty experience over the last two years and the risks of the warranty obligations. The 
provision is not discounted to its present value as the effect of discounting is not material. 
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(y) Employee leave benefits 

 
Wages, salaries, annual leave and non-monetary benefits 
Provision is made for the employee benefits accumulated as a result of the employee rendering services up to the 
reporting date. These benefits including on costs expected to be settled within one year, together with benefits arising 
from wages and salaries, annual leave and non-monetary benefits which will be settled after one year, are measured at 
their nominal amounts based on remuneration rates which are expected to be paid when the liability is settled. 

 
Long service leave 
Long service leave including on costs, payable later than one year have been measured at the present value of 
estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is 
given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures, and periods of service. Expected 
future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to 
maturity and currencies that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

 
Retirement benefit obligations 
The Group contributes to various superannuation plans in accordance with and at rates set down by law. Some 
employees contribute to these plans at differing percentages of their salaries. 

 
The Group contribution plan and costs are charged as an expense as incurred. 

 
(z) Share based payment transactions 

 
The Group operates an Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP), which provides benefits to employees (including 
Directors) of the Group in the form of share based payment transactions, whereby employees render services in 
exchange for shares or rights over shares (“equity settled transactions”). 
 
The cost of these equity settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at 
which they are granted. An external valuer using Black Scholes model determines the fair value,  which takes into 
account the factors including the option exercise price, the current level and volatility of the underlying share price, 
the risk-free interest rate, expected dividends on the underlying share, current market price of the underlying share, 
the expected life of the option, and any barriers associated with vesting. 
 
The fair value of equity settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the 
period in which the performance conditions re fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become 
fully entitled to the option (‘vesting date’). 
 
The cumulative expense recognised for equity settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting reflects: 

 
(a) the extent to which the vesting period has expired, and 
(b) the number of options that, in the opinion of the Directors of the Group, will ultimately vest. This opinion is 

formed based on the best available information at balance date. No adjustment is made for the likelihood of 
market performance conditions being met as the effect of these conditions is included in the determination of 
fair value at grant date. 

 
No expense is recognised for options that do not ultimately vest, except for options where vesting is conditional upon 
a market condition. 
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(z) Share based payment transactions (cont’d) 

 
Where the terms of an equity settled option are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had 
not been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any increase in the value of the transaction as a result of 
the modification, as measured at the date of modification. 
 
Where an equity settled option is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any 
expense not yet recognised for the option is recognised immediately. However, if a new option is substituted for the 
cancelled option, and designated as a replacement option on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new option 
are treated as if they were a modification of the original option, as described in the previous paragraph. 
 
The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of 
earnings per share. 
 

(aa) Contributed Equity  
 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options 
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 
 

3. Significant accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements 
 

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions in 
relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses that affect the reported amounts in the 
financial statements. Estimations and judgements are continually evaluated by management and are based on 
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on 
the entity and that are believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

 
(a) Significant accounting judgements 

 
The following are the critical judgements that the directors have made in the process of applying the entity’s 
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect of the amounts recognised in financial statements: 

 
Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill 
The Group assesses impairment of all assets including intangible assets with definite useful lives at each reporting 
date by evaluating conditions specific to the Group and to the particular asset that may lead to impairment. These 
include product and manufacturing performance, technology, economic and political environments and future product 
expectations. If an impairment trigger exists the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. Management 
considers that the triggers for impairment testing have not been significant enough for intellectual property and as 
such these assets have not been tested for impairment in this financial period. 
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(a) Significant accounting judgements (cont’d) 

 
Taxation 
The Group's accounting policy for taxation requires management's judgement in assessing whether deferred tax assets 
and certain deferred tax liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet. Deferred tax assets, including those arising 
from unrecouped tax losses, capital losses and temporary differences, are recognised only where it is considered more 
likely than not that they will be recovered, which is dependent on the generation of sufficient future taxable profits. 
 
Assumptions about the generation of future taxable profits and repatriation of retained earnings depend on 
management's estimates of future cash flows. These depend on estimates of future production and sales volumes, 
operating costs, capital expenditure, dividends and other capital management transactions. Judgements are also 
required about the application of income tax legislation. These judgements and assumptions are subject to risk and 
uncertainty, hence there is a possibility that changes in circumstances will alter expectations, which may impact the 
amount of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities in respect of tax losses and temporary differences not yet 
recognised. In such circumstances, some or all of the carrying amounts of unrecognised deferred tax assets and 
liabilities may require adjustment, resulting in a corresponding credit or charge to the income statement. 

 
(b) Significant estimates and assumptions 

 
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by 
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are: 

 
Share based payment transactions 
The cost of share based payments to employees and consultants is measured by reference to the fair value of the 
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted, the fair value is determined with assistance of an external 
valuer, using the Black Scholes formula, taking into accounts the terms and conditions upon which the instruments 
were granted. The accounting estimates and assumptions relating to equity-settled share-based payments would have 
no impact on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period but may impact 
expenses and equity. 

 
Impairment of goodwill 
The Company determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating units, using a value in use discounted cash flow methodology, to which 
the goodwill are allocated. No impairment loss was recognised in the current year. The assumptions used in this 
estimation of recoverable amount and the carrying amount of goodwill are discussed in note 13. 

 
Warranty provision 
In determining the level of provision required for product warranties the Group has made judgements in respect of the 
expected performance of the product, number of customers who will actually use the warranty and how often, and the 
costs of fulfilling the performance of the service warranty. Historical experience and current knowledge of the 
performance of products has been used in determining this provision. The related carrying amounts are disclosed in 
note 16. Any increase or decrease in the provision would affect profit or loss in future years. 

 
4. Segment Information 

 
The Company is not organised into segments or divisions. 
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   CONSOLIDATED ENTITY PARENT ENTITY 
 2008 

$ 
2007 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2007 

$ 
5. Revenue and expenses 
 

Revenue  
Sales of goods and services 

 
 
 

580,863 

 
 
 

1,102,777 

 
 
 

580,863 

 
 
 

783,722 
     
 Other revenue and gains 

Interest income 
Convertible note interest forgiven 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment 
Net exchange gains 

 
48,465 

194,924 
 

20,415 
132,352 

 
1,614 

- 
 

1,227 
645,022 

 
48,463 

194,924 
 

20,415 
132,328 

 
1,614 

- 
 

29,305 
646,302 

 396,156 647,863 396,130 677,221 
     
Employee payments including benefits     
  Salaries and wages 2,195,596 1,918,285 2,195,596 1,355,716 
  Superannuation expense 178,145 156,493 178,145 113,825 
  Annual leave (18,915) 31,553 (18,915) 32,299 
  Long service leave expense (4,872) (8,945) (4,872) (205)
  Other employment expense 28,886 66,189 28,886 65,462 
 2,378,840 2,163,575 2,378,840 1,567,097 
 Less: Research & development staff costs (644,888) (483,709) (644,888) (356,569)
Total employee payments 1,733,952 1,679,866 1,733,952 1,210,528 
     
Research & development expenses     
  Research and development staff costs 644,888 483,709 644,888 356,569 
  Legal costs 38,462 - 38,462 - 
  Consultant costs 158,629 144,060 158,629 144,060 
  Materials / services costs 231,987 229,281 231,987 214,575 
  Travel expenses 163,944 108,744 163,944 83,546 
Total research & development expenses 1,237,910 965,794 1,237,910 798,750 
     
Depreciation and amortisation expenses     

 Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment 

 
243,174 

 
272,901 

 
237,309 

 
261,220 

 Amortisation for leasehold improvements 48,068 46,405 48,069 46,382 
Total depreciation and amortisation 291,242 319,306 285,378 307,602 

     
Impairment loss     
Write-off of intercompany receivable - - 74,586 1,859,299 
     
Finance costs     

  Interest and finance charges paid 
  Convertible note interest 

175,565 
- 

184,936 
100,920 

175,565 
- 

174,037 
100,920 

Total finance costs 175,565 285,856 175,565 274,957 
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 CONSOLIDATED ENTITY PARENT ENTITY 
 2008 

$ 
2007 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2007 

$ 
6. Income tax 
     
(a) Income tax credit     

The major components of income tax credit 
are:     

     
Current income tax     
Research and development tax benefit 326,450 308,909 326,450 308,909 
Deferred income tax     
Relating to origination and reversal of 
temporary differences (21,967) - (122,244) - 
Recognition of tax losses 21,967 - 122,244 - 
 326,450 308,909 326,450 308,909 

 
(b) Numerical reconciliation between aggregate 

tax credit recognised in the income 
statement and tax expense calculated per 
the statutory income tax rate 

 
Loss before income tax expense (5,783,609) (3,643,866) (5,848,422) (5,064,162)
Income tax calculated at statutory tax rate of 
30% (2007: 30%) (1,735,082) (1,093,160) (1,754,527) (1,519,248)
Tax effect of amounts which are not 
deductible in calculating taxable income 
Share based payments 
Impairment losses 

 
860 

120,315 
- 

 
3,211 

- 
- 

 
860 

120,315 
22,376 

 
3,211 

- 
- 

Tax losses and timing differences not 
recognised 
Research and development tax benefit 

 
1,613,907 
(326,450)

 
1,089,949 
(308,909)

 
1,610,976 
(326,450) 

 
1,516,038 
(308,909)

 Aggregate income tax benefit (326,450) (308,909) (326,450) (308,909)
     
 

The franking account balance at year end was $Nil (2007: $Nil) 
 
(c) Unrecognised temporary differences 

 
At 30 June 2008, there are no unrecognised temporary differences associated with the Group's investments in 
subsidiaries as the Group has no liability for additional taxation should unremitted earnings be remitted (2007: $nil). 
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6. Income tax (cont’d) 
 
(d) Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
 

The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised in the balance sheets and the movements during the 
year are as follows: 

 

CONSOLIDATED 
Accelerated 
depreciation 

Intellectual 
property Provisions 

Capital 
raising 
costs Others Tax losses Total 

        
At 1 July 2006 - - -  - - - 
Charge/(credit) to income 
statement (237,467) 111,511 40,087 35,833 50,036 - - 
At 30 June 2007 (237,467) 111,511 40,087 35,833 50,036 - - 
Charge/(credit) to income 
statement (103,177) (13,282) 61,258 51,580 (18,346) 21,967 - 
At 30 June 2008 (340,644) 98,229 101,345 87,413 31,690 21,967 - 

 
At 30 June 2008, the Group has unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences of $13,902,089 (2007: 
$8,450,191) and $1,062,256 (2007: $1,540,977) respectively available for offset against future profits.  A deferred 
tax asset has been recognised in respect of $73,220 (2007: $Nil) of such losses and $1,062,256 (2007: $791,557) of 
the temporary differences.  No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining tax loss of 
$13,828,869 (2007: $8,450,191) and deductible temporary differences of $Nil (2007: $749,420) due to the 
unpredictability of future profit streams.  Such losses may be carried forward indefinitely subject to meeting relevant 
statutory tests. 

 

PARENT 
Accelerated 
depreciation 

Intellectual 
property Provisions 

Capital 
raising 
costs Others Tax losses Total 

       
At 1 July 2006 - - - - - - - 
Charge/(credit) to income 
statement (225,952) - 35,398 35,833 154,721 -  
At 30 June 2007 (225,952) - 35,398 35,833 154,721 - - 
Charge/(credit) to income 
statement (109,488) (7,252) 65,947 51,580 (123,031) 122,244 - 
At 30 June 2008 (335,440) (7,252) 101,345 87,413 31,690 122,244 - 
 
At 30 June 2008, the Company has unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences of $13,080,197 (2007: 
$7,941,797 and $710,653 (2007: $1,153,643) respectively available for offset against future profits.  A deferred tax 
asset has been recognised in respect of $407,480 (2007: $Nil) of such losses and $710,653 (2007: $753,173) of the 
temporary differences.  No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining tax loss of 
$12,672,717(2007: $7,941,797) and deductible temporary differences of $Nil (2007: $400,469) due to the 
unpredictability of future profit streams.  Such loss may be carried forward indefinitely subject to meeting relevant 
statutory tests. 
 

(e) Tax consolidation 
 

The Company and its 100% owned Australian resident subsidiaries formed a tax consolidated group with effect from 
1 July 2004.  The Company is the head entity of the tax consolidated group.  The head entity and the controlled 
entities in the tax consolidated group continue to account for their own current and deferred tax amounts.  The Group 
has applied the group allocation approach in determining the appropriate amount of current taxes and deferred taxes 
to allocate to members of the tax consolidated group.  The current and deferred tax amounts are measured in a 
systematic manner that is consistent with the broad principles in AASB 112 Incomes Taxes. 
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7. Loss per share 
 

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the net loss from ordinary activities attributable to equity holders 
of the Company for the year of $5,457,159 and the weighted average of 62,173,045 ordinary shares in issue during 
the year. 
 
Diluted loss per share amount for the year was the same as the basic loss per share as the share options outstanding as 
at 30 June 2008 had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share. 
 
There is no comparative figure for the year ended 30 June 2007 as the company was not listed until 29 May 2008. 

 
 CONSOLIDATED ENTITY PARENT ENTITY 
 2008 

$ 
2007 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2007 

$ 
8. Remuneration of auditors     

Auditors of the Company – Ernst & Young 
(2007: BDO Kendalls Audit & Assurance): 
Audit and review of the financial report 

    

 Current year 65,600 - 65,600 - 
 Prior year, charged by BDO Kendalls 36,012 15,548 36,012 15,548 
Other services     
 Other accounting services 4,000 - 4,000 - 
     
Taxation services – Msquared (2007: BDO 
Kendalls Audit & Assurance): 

    

 Tax compliance 22,600 15,450 22,600 15,450 
 Grant applications 24,645 6,000 24,645 6,000 

 152,857 36,998 152,857 36,998 
     
9. Cash and cash equivalents     

Cash at bank 
Cash held on security deposit 
Cash on hand 

3,070,415 
140,000 

1,000 

13,345 
- 

1,000 

3,069,924 
140,000 

1,000 

4,486 
- 

1,000 
 3,211,415 14,345 3,210,924 5,486 
     
 Reconciliation to Cash Flow Statement     

For the purpose of the Cash Flow 
Statement, cash and cash equivalents 
comprise the following at 30 June: 

    

     
Cash assets 3,211,415 14,345 3,210,924 5,486 
Cash held on security deposit  (140,000) - (140,000) - 
Bank overdrafts (note 16)  (723,342) (84,201) (723,342) (84,201)

 2,348,073 (69,856) 2,347,582 (78,715)
     

Cash held on security deposit represents a fixed deposit for a term of 1 year maturing on 22 December 2008.  The 
deposit bears interest at a fixed rate of 7.06% per annum.  The deposit is pledged against the bank facilities granted 
to the Company. (note 16) 

 



 

   42 

A U T O M O T I V E  T E C H N O L O G Y  G R O U P  L I M I T E D  
A N D  C O N T R O L L E D  E N T I T I E S  

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008 
 
 

 
 CONSOLIDATED ENTITY PARENT ENTITY 
 2008 

$ 
2007 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2007 

$ 
     
10. Trade and other receivables     

Trade receivables  63,532 16,371 63,532 6,345 
Less: Allowance for impairment loss - (7,383) - (6,244)
 63,532 8,988 63,532 101 
Trade deposits 131,653 14,846 131,653 14,846 
Prepayments 129,923 168,504 129,923 168,504 
 325,108 192,338 325,108 183,451 

     

Trade receivables are non- interest bearing and are generally on 0-30 day terms. An allowance for impairment loss is 
recognised when there is objective evidence that an individual trade receivable is impaired.  An impairment loss of 
$7,383 and $6,244 has been recognised by the Group and the Company in the year ended 30 June 2007. These 
amounts have been included in administrative expenses. 
 
Movements in the allowance for impairment loss were as follows: 
 
At 1 July  7,383 6,737 6,244 - 
Charge for the year - 7,383 - 6,244 
Amounts written off (7,383) (6,737) (6,244) - 
At 30 June - 7,383 - 6,244 
 
The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither individually nor collectively considered to be impaired are 
as follows: 
Neither past due nor impaired 7,720 5,573 7,720 1,101 
Less than 1 month past due 53,580 699 53,580 - 
1 to 3 months past due 2,232 (905) 2,232 (1,000)
Over 3 months past due - 11,004 - 6,244 
 63,532 16,371 63,532 6,345 

     
Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a range of customers for whom there was no 
recent history of default. 
 
Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of independent customers that have a good 
track record with the Group.  Based on past experience, management believes that no impairment allowance is 
necessary in respect of these balances as there have not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances 
are still considered fully recoverable.  The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. 
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 CONSOLIDATED ENTITY PARENT ENTITY 
 2008 

$ 
2007 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2007 

$ 
     
11. Inventories     

Work in progress – at net realisable value  547,586 637,298 547,586 637,298 
Finished goods – at net realisable value 1,393,964 1,066,371 1,393,964 1,066,371 

 Total inventories at the lower of costs and net 
 realisable value 

 
1,941,550 

 
1,703,669 

 
1,941,550 

 
1,703,669 

     
The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the year was $301,642 (2007: $952,153) for both the Group 
and the Company. This expense has been included in the cost of sales line item. 
 
The cost of inventories recognised as an expense includes an additional $135,335 (2007: Nil) in respect of write-
downs of work in progress to net realisable value. 
 

12. Other financial assets (non-current)     
Loan to non-related entity  15,000 - 15,000 - 

     
The loan is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed repayment terms, but in no event will it be repayable within the 
next twelve months. 
 

13. Property, plant and equipment     
The Group engages Christie Whyte Moore, an accredited independent valuer that uses the International Valuation 
Standards Committee, International Valuation Standards as a reference, to determine the fair value of its land and 
building.  Fair value is the amount for which the assets could be exchanged between a knowledgeable willing buyer 
and a knowledgeable willing seller in an arm’s length transaction as at the valuation date.  Fair value is determined 
by direct reference to recent market transactions on arm’s length terms for land and buildings comparable in size and 
location to those held by the Group, and to market based yields for comparable properties.  The effective date of the 
revaluation was 31 October 2007.  No subsequent valuation was performed and the directors are of the opinion that 
the fair value of the land and building as of 30 June 2008 approximates the fair value as of 31 October 2007. 
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CONSOLIDATED ENTITY 

Leasehold 
Improvements 

Land & 
Buildings 

Building 
Improvements 

Manufacturing 
plant & 

Equipment 

Engineering 
Equipment & 

Software Motor Vehicles 
Office Furniture 

& Equipment 

Workshop 
Equipment Low 

pool <$400 Total 
At 1 July 2006 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Cost or fair value 59,828 498,090  129,490  1,239,616 94,481  332,193  182,459  487  2,536,644  
Accumulated Depreciation (12,109) - (20,638)  (327,073)  (16,917)  (101,687)  (37,923)  (30)  (516,377) 
Net book amount 47,719 498,090  108,852  912,543 77,564  230,506  144,536  457  2,020,267  

 

Year ended 30 June 2007                  
Opening net book amount 47,719 498,090 108,852 912,543 77,564 230,506 144,536 457 2,020,267 
Revaluation Surplus - 689,248 - - - - - - 689,248 
Additions 158,248 - 73,951 54,217 14,139 39,000 48,169 1,244 388,968 
Disposals (6,127) - (132) (18,525) (4,260) (60,044) (9,197) - (98,285) 
Depreciation Charge (46,405) - (10,009) (138,370) (24,258) (43,941) (56,117) (208) (319,308) 
Closing Net book amount 153,435 1,187,338 172,662 809,865 63,185 165,521 127,391 1,493 2,680,890 

 

At 30 June 2007                  
Cost or fair value 200,870 1,187,338 203,242 1,269,604 104,360 247,574 208,660 1,731 3,423,379 
Accumulated Depreciation (47,435) - (30,580) (459,739) (41,175) (82,053) (81,269) (238) (742,489) 
Net book amount 153,435 1,187,338 172,662 809,865 63,185 165,521 127,391 1,493 2,680,890 

 

Year ended 30 June 2008                  
Opening net book amount 153,435 1,187,338 172,662 809,865 63,185 165,521 127,391 1,493 2,680,890 
Revaluation Surplus - 142,840 - - - - - - 142,840 
Additions 10,710 - 13,969 196,420 148,967 168,475 10,904 - 549,445 
Disposals - - - (326) - (54,622) - (1,493) (56,441) 
Depreciation Charge (48,069) - (11,068) (133,839) (19,881) (34,723) (43,663) - (291,243) 
Closing Net book amount 116,076 1,330,178 175,563 872,120 192,271 244,651 94,632 - 3,025,491 

 

At 30 June 2008                  
Cost or fair value 211,579 1,330,178 217,211 1,463,369 253,327 310,873 217,232 - 4,003,769 
Accumulated Depreciation (95,503) - (41,648) (591,249) (61,056) (66,222) (122,600) - (978,278) 
Net book amount 116,076 1,330,178 175,563 872,120 192,271 244,651 94,632 - 3,025,491 
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PARENT ENTITY 

Leasehold 
Improvements 

Land & 
Buildings 

Building 
Improvements 

Manufacturing 
plant & 

Equipment 

Engineering 
Equipment & 

Software Motor Vehicles 
Office Furniture 

& Equipment 

Workshop 
Equipment Low 

pool <$400 Total $ 
At 30 June 2006 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Cost or fair value 42,622 498,090  129,490  954,108 94,481  288,575  169,715  487  2,177,568  
Accumulated Depreciation (1,053) - (20,638) (103,408) (16,917) (81,717) (32,170) (30) (255,933) 
Net book amount 41,569 498,090  108,852  850,700 77,564  206,858  137,545  457 1,921,635  

 

Year ended 30 June 2007                  
Opening net book amount 41,569 498,090 108,852 850,700 77,564 206,858 137,545 457 1,921,635 
Revaluation Surplus - 689,248 - - - - - - 689,248 
Additions 158,248 - 73,951 54,217 14,139 39,000 48,169 1,244 388,968 
Disposals - - (132) (706) (4,260) (39,579) (5,064) - (49,741) 
Depreciation Charge (46,382) - (10,009) (130,818) (24,258) (40,758) (55,169) (208) (307,602) 
Closing Net book amount 153,435 1,187,338 172,662 773,393 63,185 165,521 125,481 1,493 2,642,508 

 

At 30 June 2007                  
Cost or fair value 200,870 1,187,338 203,242 1,007,619 104,360 247,574 203,046 1,731 3,155,780 
Accumulated Depreciation (47,435) - (30,580) (234,226) (41,175) (82,053) (77,565) (238) (513,272) 
Net book amount 153,435 1,187,338 172,662 773,393 63,185 165,521 125,481 1,493 2,642,508 

 

Year ended 30 June 2008                  
Opening net book amount 153,435 1,187,338 172,662 773,393 63,185 165,521 125,481 1,493 2,642,508 
Revaluation Surplus - 142,840 - - - - - - 142,840 
Additions 10,710 - 13,969 196,420 148,967 168,475 10,904 - 549,445 
Disposals - - - - - (54,622) - (1,493) (56,115) 
Depreciation Charge (48,069) - (11,068) (128,352) (19,881) (34,723) (43,285) - (285,378) 
Closing Net book amount 116,076 1,330,178 175,563 841,461 192,271 244,651 93,100 - 2,993,300 

 

At 30 June 2008                  
Cost or fair value 211,579 1,330,178 217,210 1,204,276 253,327 310,873 213,950 - 3,741,393 
Accumulated Depreciation (95,503) - (41,647) (362,815) (61,056) (66,222) (120,850) - (748,093) 
Net book amount 116,076 1,330,178 175,563 841,461 192,271 244,651 93,100 - 2,993,300 
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 CONSOLIDATED ENTITY PARENT ENTITY 
 2008 

$ 
2007 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2007 

$ 
     
14. Goodwill & intellectual property     

Intellectual Property – Sprintex Technology 401,983 401,983 - - 
Less: Provision for diminution in value (371,702) (371,702) - - 

 30,281 30,281 - - 
Goodwill 479,136 479,136 - - 

         509,417 509,417 - - 
 
Intellectual property – Sprintex Technology represented patents acquired through business combinations and are 
carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.  These intangible assets have been determined to have indefinite 
useful lives.  The patents have been granted terms up to January 2013 or January 2014 by the relevant government 
agency with the option of renewal without significant cost at the end of this period.   
 
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash generating units (CGUs) that are 
expected to benefit from that business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill of the Group and the Company 
had been allocated to the Sprintex CGU, the value of which is essentially generated from the underlying value of 
intellectual property – Sprintex Technology.  Accordingly, the recoverable amount of this CGU is determined based 
on the value in use calculations of the intellectual property – patents. 
 
These calculations use cash flow projections based on sales budgets approved by management covering a five -year 
period and applying royalty income rate of 3% and 4.5%.  Cash flows beyond the five year period are extrapolated 
using the estimated rates stated below. 
 

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations:  
    % 
Risk free rate    5.64 
Sales price growth rate    3 
Royalty income rate    3 to 4.5 
Discount rate    14 to 15.5 
 
Management determined the budgeted production and revenue based on past performance and its expectation for market 
development.  The royalty rates used are consistent with the forecasts included in the industry reports.  The discount 
rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the CGU. 
 
The directors believe that any reasonable possible change in the key assumptions on which recoverable amount is based 
would not cause the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of the CGU. 
 
As the recoverable amount of the intellectual property – Sprintex Technology, as determined by the value in use 
calculations is higher than the carrying values of the goodwill and the intellectual property, no impairment loss for the 
goodwill nor the intellectual property is considered necessary. 
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 CONSOLIDATED ENTITY PARENT ENTITY 
 2008 

$ 
2007 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2007 

$ 
15. Trade and other payables     

Trade payables  385,054 504,528 385,054 505,084 
Loans from a related entity - 5,715,336 - 5,715,336 
Other payables and accruals 488,902 628,471 488,902 599,551 

 873,956 6,848,335 873,956 6,819,971 
     

Trade payables 
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are predominately settled on 30 day terms. 
 
Loans from a related entity 
The loans from a related entity were due to the Company’s ex-parent, Automotive Technology Group Limited (BVI) 
(“ATG BVI”).  As of 9 January 2008, the loan balance was increased to $7,381,643 and was settled by the issuance 
of 4,576,175 shares at $1.61 per share on the same day. (note 19(a)(i)) 
 

16. Interest bearing borrowings      
Current     
Bank overdraft (secured) 723,342 84,201 723,342 84,201 
Insurance premium funding (unsecured) 89,034 162,797 89,034 162,797 
Finance lease liabilities (note 25) 208,840 159,114 208,840 152,257 

 1,021,216 406,112 1,021,216 399,255 
Non-current     
Finance lease liabilities (note 25) 372,534 402,439 372,534 384,424 

     
(a) Bank overdrafts are repayable on demand.  The average effective interest rate on bank overdrafts approximated 

10.33% (2007: 9.35%) in the year and is determined based on 1% plus commercial base rate of the banker.  Details 
of securities are disclosed in note (d) below. 

 
(b) Insurance premium funding is unsecured and due for repayment over 12 equal instalments starting from March of 

each year.  The effective interest rate of the loan was 8.71% (2007: 9.62%) per annum for the year. 
 
(c) Details of finance lease liabilities are disclosed in note 25. 
 
(d) Bank overdrafts and finance lease liabilities of $723,342 (2007: $Nil) and $194,769 (2007: $Nil) respectively 

granted by the banker are secured by the following: 
 

• fixed and floating charge over the assets and undertakings of the Company; 
• mortgage over land and buildings with a carrying value of $1,330,179 (2007: $1,187,338) (note 13); 
• plant and equipment with total carrying value of $180,522 (2007: $Nil) held under finance leases and hire 

purchase arrangements; 
• a legal right of set off enabling the bank to set off cash security deposit of $140,000 (2007: $Nil) against the 

interest obligations of at least one year (note 9); and 
• guarantee and indemnity given by the two executive directors to the extent of $1,290,000 (2007 : $Nil); 

 
The above banking facilities, in total extent of $1,290,000 (2007 : $Nil), were utilised to the extent of $$918,111 at 
30 June 2008 (2007 : $Nil). 
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 2008 

$ 
2007 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2007 

$ 
     
17. Provisions     

Provision for warranty 28,646 54,667 28,646 39,036 
Provision for employee entitlements 76,508 104,062 76,508 80,826 

 105,154 158,729 105,154 119,862 
     
Movements in the provision for warranty for the Group and the Company during the financial year are set out below: 

     
  $   

At 1 July 2007  54,667   
Written back/utilisation of provisions  (26,021)   
At 30 June 2008  28,646   

     
Warranty provision 
Under the terms of the Group’s sales arrangements, the Group will rectify any product defects arising within one 
year of the date of sale.  Provision is therefore made for the present value of the management’s best estimate of the 
expected settlement under these agreements in respect of sales made within the year prior to the balance sheet date.  
The estimate has been made on the basis of the Group’s historical warranty trends and industry averages for 
defective products and is only made where a warranty claim is probable. 
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$ 
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$ 
2008 

$ 
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$ 
     
18. Other liabilities      

Current     
Directors loan accounts (note 22) 17,972 - 17,972 - 
     
Non-current     
Convertible notes - 1,043,659 - 1,043,659 
Directors loan accounts (note 22)  405,827 - 405,827 

 - 1,449,486 - 1,449,486 
 

Convertible notes 
On 3 May 2006, the Company entered into an agreement with China Automotive Holdings Limited  and convertible 
notes in the principal amount of $1,200,000 were issued to the Company maturing on 36 months from 5 September 
2005.  The convertible notes carried a coupon interest rate of 5% per annum. 
 
The carrying amount of the convertible notes in issue was split into the equity and liability components at the date of 
grant at $305,475 and $894,525 respectively. The fair value of the liability component was calculated using a market 
interest rate of 17.25% per annum at the date of grant. The residual amount of $305,475 representing the value of the 
equity conversion component, was included in equity as Convertible Note Equity. 
 
The convertible notes were fully converted into 800,000 shares at $1.50 per share on 18 December 2007 (note 19). 
 
The movement of the Convertible notes for the year is set out below: 

 
  Equity 

component 
Liability 

component 
 

Total 
  $ $ $ 
     

At 1 July 2006  305,475 942,740 1,248,215 
     
Imputed interest  - 100,919 100,919 
At 30 June 2007  305,475 1,043,659 1,349,134 
Conversion into ordinary shares  (305,475) (1,043,659) (1,349,134)
At 30 June 2008  - - - 
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$ 
     
19. Contributed equity     

Paid up capital – ordinary shares 21,225,030 4,594,988 21,225,030 4,594,988 
Capital raising costs capitalised (609,707) - (609,707) - 
Convertible Note Equity (note 18) - 305,475 - 305,475 

             20,615,323 4,900,463 20,615,323 4,900,463 
     
(a) Ordinary shares     
 Movements in ordinary share capital  

Date 
Number of 

shares 
 

$ 
 

 Balance at 1 July 2007  11,723,325 4,594,988  
     
 Conversion of convertible notes at $1.50 each (note 

18) 
 

18 Dec 2007 
 

800,000 
 

1,200,000 
 

 Issue of Shares at $1.61 each (note i) 9 Jan 2008 4,576,175 7,381,643  
 Capital Restructuring (51,298,500 shares) (note ii) 30 Jan 2008 51,298,500 4,399  
 Employee Shares (note iii) 29 Mar 2008 370,000 -  
 Seed Capital (note iv) 29 Mar 2008 10,000,000 2,000,000  
 Issuance of shares for initial public offering (note v) 27 May 2008 24,176,000 6,044,000  
 Less capital raising costs capitalised  - (609,707)  
 Contributions to equity net of transaction costs 

during the year 
   

16,020,335 
 

 Balance as at 30 June 2008  102,944,000 20,615,323  
     
 Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at 

shareholders meetings. 
 
 In the event of a winding up of the Company, ordinary shareholders rank after all other shareholders and creditors, and 

are fully entitled to any surplus proceeds of liquidation. 
 

(i) Conversion of Automotive Technology Group Limited (BVI) debt 
On 9 January 2008, the debt owed to the Company’s ex-parent, ATG BVI in the amount of $7,381,643 was 
capitalised by the Company issuing 4,576,175 shares at $1.61 per share as consideration. (note 15) 

 
(ii) Capital Reorganisation 

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the shareholder’s meeting held on 30 January 2008, a share 
subdivision was effected such that every ordinary share in the issued and unissued share capital of the Company 
was subdivided into 4 subdivided shares by the creation of 151,298,500 subdivided shares based on the number 
of the issued ordinary shares at that time (“Share Subdivision”).  Immediately after the Share Subdivision, a 
group reorganisation was effected such that the then parent of the Company, ATG (BVI) became a wholly owned 
subsidiary of the Group.  The excess of the fair value of ATG (BVI) over the nominal value of ATG (BVI) in the 
amount of $4,399 was recorded as contributed surplus.  

 
(iii) Employee Shares 

Pursuant to a board resolution dated 20 February 2008, 370,000 ordinary shares were issued on 29 March 2008 
to employees, contractors and advisors to the Company in consideration of their respective services or advice 
rendered or given to the Company. 
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19. Contributed equity (cont’d) 
 

(iv) Seed Capital 
On 31 January 2008, the Company closed a seed capital placement of $2,000,000 to various investors including 
the Directors associated entities.  10,000,000 ordinary shares at $0.20 per share were issued on 29 March 2008.  

 
(v) Issuance of shares for public offer and placing 

On 27 May 2008, an aggregate of 24,176,000 new ordinary shares were issued and offered for subscription 
under public offer at a price of $0.25 per share upon the listing of the Company’s shares on the Australian Stock 
Exchange. The Group raised $5,434,293, net of related expenses from the share offer. 

 
(b)  Converting performance shares 

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at the shareholders’ meeting held on 30 January 2008, the Company created 
two additional classes of shares, being share classes “A” and “B”. On 28 March 2008, the Company issued 
17,099,500 new Class “A” Converting Performance Shares and 17,099,500 new Class “B” Converting Performance 
Shares as a bonus issue to shareholders of the Company as at 30 January 2008 (except for the subscribers to the Seed 
Capital) on the basis of 1 Class “A” Converting Performance Share and 1 Class “B” Converting Performance Share 
for every 4 Ordinary shares held. 
 
Subject to performance criteria associated with the operating results of the Group, each Class “A” or Class “B” 
Converting Performance Share is entitled to convert to 1 ordinary share of the Company.  Both Class “A” and Class 
“B” Converting Performance Share do not entitle the holder to vote on any resolutions proposed at a general meeting 
of shareholders, do not entitle the holder to any dividends, not transferable and can only participate in the surplus 
profits or assets of the Company upon winding up of the Company only to the extent of $0.0001 per Class “A” or 
Class “B” Converting Performance Share. 
 

20. Reserves 
 

(a) Convertible note equity 
 

The equity component of convertible note represents the value of the unexercised equity component of convertible 
note issued by the Company recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for convertible notes in 
note 18. 
 

(b) Asset revaluation reserve 
 

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements in the fair value of land and buildings to 
the extent that they offset one another. The reserve can only be used to pay dividends in limited circumstances. 

 
(c) Share option reserve 
 

Share option reserve represents the fair value of the actual or estimated number of unexercised share options granted 
to management and consultants of the Company recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for 
share-based payments in note 24. 
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 2008 

$ 
2007 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2007 

$ 
     
21. Cash flow statement reconciliation     
     
(a) Reconciliation of cash flows from operating 

activities to operating loss after income tax 
    

     
Operating loss after income tax (5,457,159) (3,334,957) (5,521,970) (4,755,253)
Add non-cash items:     
 Share based payments 401,050 - 401,050 - 
 Convertible note interest (194,924) 100,920 (194,924) 100,920 
 Depreciation and amortisation 291,242 319,306 285,378 307,602 
 Impairment loss - - 74,586 1,859,299 
 Net gain on disposal of property, plant and 

equipment 
 

(20,415)
 

(1,227) 
 

(20,415)
 

(29,305)
 Exchange difference on loan from a related party (132,352) (645,022) (132,328) (646,302)
Changes in assets and liabilities  
 Increase in trade and other receivables (132,770) (42,302) (141,659) (67,883)
 Increase in inventories (237,881) (525,486) (237,881) (863,382)
 Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables (213,252) (502,276) (184,890) 137,729 
 (Decrease)/increase in provision for warranty (26,021) 32,513 (10,390) 29,933 
 (Decrease)/increase in provision for employee 

entitlements 
 

(27,554)
 

24,011 
 

(4,318) 
 

69,355 
     
Net cash flows used in operating activities (5,750,036) (4,574,520) (5,687,761) (3,857,287)

     
(b) Non-cash financing and investing activities     

 
During the year ended 30 June 2008 there were the following non-cash financing and investing transactions: 
 
(i) Conversion of convertible note with principal amount of $1,200,000 to equity (800,000 shares @$1.50).  The 

interest due at the time of conversion was forgiven. 
(ii) Conversion of ATG debt of $7,386,043 to equity (4,576,175 shares @ $1.61). 
(iii) During the year, the Group acquired $203,758 of motor vehicles and equipment under finance leases.  These 

acquisitions will be reflected in the cash flow statement over the terms of the finance leases via lease 
repayments. 

 
 
 



 

   53 

A U T O M O T I V E  T E C H N O L O G Y  G R O U P  L I M I T E D  
A N D  C O N T R O L L E D  E N T I T I E S  

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008 
 

 
 
22. Related party disclosures 
 
(a) Subsidiaries 
 

The following were controlled entities at 30 June 2008 and are included in the consolidated financial statements. All 
of the controlled entities have the same financial year as the parent 
 

 % Equity Interest Investment 
Name of Entity 

Country of 
Incorporation 2008 2007 2008 2007 

    $ $ 
Sprintex Australasia Pty Limited Australia 100 100 479,136 479,136 
Vee Two Pty Limited Australia 100 100 140,000 140,000 
AAC Property Investments Pty Limited Australia 100 100 556 556 
Automotive Technology Group Limited 
(note 19(a)(ii)) 

British Virgin 
Islands 

100 - 4,400 - 

Provision for impairment    (556) - 
    623,536 619,692 

 
(b) Transactions with related parties 
 

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the company, have been 
eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.  Details of transactions between the Group and other 
related parties are disclosed below. 

 
Save as disclosed in notes 16, 18, 19(a)(i), 19(a)(iii), 19(a)(iv) and 24 to the financial statements, the Group does not 
have transactions with other related parties. 
 
The compensation of key management personnel and other details are set out in note 23 to the financial statements. 
 
Directors loan accounts as at 30 June 2008 represented expenses paid by the directors on the Company’s behalf.  The 
amounts were unsecured, interest free and repaid on demand.  The balances at 30 June 2007 represented mainly 
accrued management remuneration.  The amounts were unsecured, interest free and not repayable within the next 
twelve months from the balance sheet date. 
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23. Key management personnel disclosures 
 
(a) Details of key management personnel 
 

Parent Entity Directors 
Mr R Siemens ...................................... Non-Executive Chairman 
Mr S Apedaile...................................... Executive Director – Corporate 
Mr A Hamilton..................................... Executive Director – Operations 
 
Other Key Management Personnel 
Ms E Chan1 .......................................... Chief Financial Officer 
Mr J Upton........................................... Business Development Manager 
Mr R Griffin......................................... Procurement & Operations Manager 
Mr S Wilkinson.................................... Sales & Marketing Manager 
Mr J Williams2 ..................................... Assembly, Inventory, Warranty and Distribution Manager 
Mr J Scoringe3 ..................................... Chief Financial Officer & Joint Company Secretary 
Mr C Henry4 ........................................ General Manager - Operations 
Mr J Lawrence5.................................... Operations Manager 
1. Joined 9 September 2008 
2. Joined 21 May 2007 
3. Resigned 25 July 2008 
4. Resigned 1 December 2006 
5. Resigned 15 November 2007 

 
 
(b) Key management personnel compensation 
 

The key management personnel compensation is as follows: 
 

 CONSOLIDATED ENTITY PARENT ENTITY 

 2008 
$ 

2007 
$ 

2008 
$ 

2007 
$ 

     
Short-term employee benefits 1,168,320 520,711 1,168,320 520,711 
Post employment benefits 33,902 25,383 33,902 25,383 
Share-based payments 288,650 - 288,650 - 
Total 1,490,872 546,094 1,490,872 546,094 

 
(c) Option holdings of key management personnel 

 
 
 
 
Directors 

 Balance at 
beginning of 
period 1 July 

2007 

 
Granted 
during  

the year 

 
Balance at 

end of period 
30 June 2008 

Vested as of 
30 June 2008 

and 
exercisable 

      
Mr R Siemens  - 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 
Mr S Apedaile  - 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 
Mr A Hamilton  - 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 
  - 4,500,000 4,500,000 4,500,000 

 
No options have been granted during the year ended 30 June 2007. 
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23. Key management personnel disclosures (cont’d) 
 
(d) Shareholdings of key management personnel 
 

Ordinary shares 
The following table shows the movement during the year in the number of ordinary shares in Automotive Technology 
Group Limited held directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each key management personnel, including their related 
parties: 
 
 
Year ended  
30 June 2008 

 
 

Held at  
1 July 2007 

Other 
changes 
prior to 

share split 

 
 

Share 
split  

 
Group  

re-
structure 

 
 

Received as 
remuneration 

 
 

Other 
changes 

 
Held at  
 30 June 

2008 
  (note 18) (note 19 

(a)(ii)) 
(note 19 
(a)(ii)) 

   

Directors        
Mr R Siemens - 846,667 2,540,001 9,955,168 - 518,334 13,860,170  
Mr S Apedaile 800,000 46,667 2,540,001 9,955,169 - 798,333 14,140,170 
Mr A Hamilton 800,000 46,666 2,539,998 9,955,173 - 518,333 13,860,170 
        
Other key 
management 
personnel 

       

Mr J Upton 50,000 - 150,000 200,000 - - 400,000 
Mr R Griffin - - - - 30,000 - 30,000 
Mr S Wilkinson - - - 50,000 - - 50,000 
Mr J Williams - - - - 25,000 - 25,000 
Mr J Scoringe 20,000 - 60,000 319,986 - - 399,986 
Mr C Henry 140,000 (140,000) - - - - - 
Mr J Lawrence - - - 20,000 - - 20,000 
 1,810,000 800,000 7,830,000 30,455,496 55,000 1,835,000 42,785,496 

 
 
Year ended 30 June 2007 

Held at  
1 July 2006 

Received as 
remuneration 

 
Other changes 

Held at 
 30 June 2007 

     
Directors     
Mr R Siemens - - - - 
Mr S Apedaile 800,000 - - 800,000 
Mr A Hamilton 800,000 - - 800,000 
     
Other key management personnel     
Mr J Upton 50,000 - - 50,000 
Mr C Henry 140,000 - - 140,000 
Mr J Scoringe 20,000 - - 20,000 

 1,810,000 - - 1,810,000 
 
There were no share transactions relating to key management personnel during the year ended 30 June 2007. 
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23. Key management personnel disclosures (cont’d) 
 

Converting performance shares 
The following table shows the movement during the year ended 30 June 2008 in the number of converting 
performance shares in Automotive Technology Group Limited held directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each key 
management personnel, including their related parties: 
 

 
 
 
Directors 

 Class A 
Converting 

performance 
shares 

Class B 
Converting 

performance 
shares 

Issued during 
the year and 

held at 
 30 June 2008 

     
Mr R Siemens  3,335,458 3,335,458 6,670,916 
Mr S Apedaile  3,210,458 3,210,458 6,420,916 
Mr A Hamilton  3,210,458 3,210,458 6,420,916 
  9,756,374 9,756,374 19,512,748 

 
All equity transactions with key management personnel other than arising from the granting of employee shares as 
stated in note 19(a)(iii) above have been entered into under terms and conditions no more favourable than those the 
Group would have adopted if dealing at arm’s length. 
 

24. Share based payment transactions 
 

The Company has established an employee share option plan (“ESOP”) for all employees or consultants of the 
Group.  The ESOP is designed to provide eligible participants with an ownership interest in the Company and to 
provide additional incentives for eligible participants to increase profitability and returns to shareholders.  Options 
are issued for no consideration and the exercise price shall be as the directors in their absolute discretion determine, 
provided the exercise price shall not be less than the weighted average of the last sale price of the Company’s Shares 
on ASX at the close of business on each of the 5 Business Days immediately preceding the date on which the 
directors resolve to grant the options.   
 
The Options may not be exercised until the shares of the Company have been quoted on ASX throughout the 12 
month period immediately preceding the exercise of the Options, without suspension during that period exceeding in 
total 2 trading days.  If the options remain unexercised after a period of 5 years from the date of grant, the options 
expire.  Options are forfeited immediately if the employee leaves the Group before the above condition is met or 60 
days after the leave of the employee if the above condition is met. 
 
As at 30 June 2008, no options were granted in respect of the ESOP. 
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24. Share based payment transactions (cont’d) 

 
On 29 February 2008, 6,500,000 options were granted to directors and a non-related consultant, Taylor Collison 
Limited, with an exercise price of $0.3, exercisable at any time on or prior to 3:00 pm (WST) on 31 December 2010.  
Each option entitles the holder to one ordinary share of the Company.  The shares issued upon exercise of the options 
will rank pari passu in all respects with the issued ordinary shares of the Company.. 
 
The number and weighted average exercise prices of the share options granted during the year are as follows: 
 
  

Options 
granted to 
directors 

Options 
granted to 

a 
consultant 

 
Number of 

share 
options 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
     
Outstanding at beginning of year - - - - 
Granted during the year 4,500,000 2,000,000 6,500,000 $0.3 
Outstanding at the end of year 4,500,000 2,000,000 6,500,000 $0.3 
     
Exercisable at end of year   6,500,000  

 
The options outstanding at the end of the year have a weighted average remaining contractual life of 2.5 years  and 
the estimated fair value of the options granted is $0.0617.  The fair value was calculated using the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model.  The inputs into the model were as follows:  

 
Underlying share price   $0.21  
Exercise price   $0.3  
Expected volatility   53.42%  
Expected life   3 years  
Risk free rate   6.63%  
Expected dividend yield   -  

 
Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the share prices of listed companies with 
profile similar to the Company.  The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best 
estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural consideration.  The Company has 
not forecasted any future dividend payments. 

 
The Group recognised total expenses of $401,050 (2007: Nil) related to equity-settled share based payment 
transactions during the year as follows: 
 

 CONSOLIDATED ENTITY PARENT ENTITY 
 2008 

$ 
2007 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2007 

$ 
     

Unlisted management options 277,650 - 277,650 - 
Unlisted sponsoring broker options 123,400 - 123,400 - 
Total share based payments 401,050 - 401,050 - 
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25. Commitments 
 
(a) Operating lease commitments 

 
The Group is the lessee in respect of certain property and items of plant and machinery and office equipment held 
under operating leases.  The lease for the property has a term of 10 years from 1 July 2006 and lease payments are 
increased every year with indexation to reflect market rentals. The lease does not include contingent rentals. 

 
At the balance sheet date, the Group and the Company had outstanding minimum commitments under non-
cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows:-  

 
 CONSOLIDATED ENTITY PARENT ENTITY 
 2008 

$ 
2007 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2007 

$ 
     
 Within one year 127,786 127,786 127,786 127,786 
 After one year but not more than five years 511,144 511,144 511,144 511,144 
 After more than five years 383,358 511,144 383,358 511,144 
 Total minimum lease payments 1,022,288 1,150,074 1,022,288 1,150,074 
 
(b) Finance lease and hire purchase commitments 

 
The Group leases certain plant and equipment under finance leases expiring from 1 to 5 years. At the end of the lease 
terms the Group owns the equipment outright or has the option to purchase the equipment for the residual amount 
owing. The Group’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets. 
 

     
 Within one year 251,989 199,491 251,989 190,793 
 After one year but not more than five years 416,872 447,999 416,872 429,000 
 Total minimum lease payments 668,861 647,490 668,861 619,793 
 Less: amounts representing finance charges (87,487) (85,937) (87,487) (83,112)
 Present value of minimum lease payments 581,374 561,553 581,374 536,681 
     
 Included in the financial statements as:     
  Current interest-bearing liabilities (note 16) 208,840 159,114 208,840 152,257 
  Non-current interest-bearing liabilities (note 16) 372,534 402,439 372,534 384,424 
 581,374 561,553 581,374 536,681 
 
(c) Capital commitments 

 
Capital commitments outstanding at the balance sheet date in respect of acquisition of property plant and equipment 
contracted for but not provided for in the financial statements were $193,500 (2007: $Nil). 
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26. Capital risk management 
 

When managing capital, management's objective is to ensure the entity continues as a going concern as well as to 
maintain optimal returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. Management also aims to maintain a 
capital structure that ensures the lowest cost of capital available to the entity. 
 
Management are constantly adjusting the capital structure to take advantage of favourable costs of capital or high 
returns on assets. As the market is constantly changing, management may change the amount of dividends to be paid 
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 
 
During 2008, no dividends have been paid. The Company does not yet have a dividend policy and payment of future 
dividends will be dependent upon the future profitability and financial position of the Company. 
 
The capital structure of the Group consists of total debts, which includes the interest-bearing borrowings, convertible 
notes and finance lease liabilities as detailed in notes 16 and 18, cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to 
equity holders of the Company, comprising contributed equity, reserves and accumulated losses as disclosed in notes 
19 and 20 respectively.  
 
Management monitor capital through the gearing ratio (net debt / total capital) and (total debt/total equity). For this 
purpose the Group defines net debts as total debts as defined above, less cash and cash equivalents. The gearing ratios 
based on continuing operations at 30 June 2008 and 2007 were as follows: 
 

 CONSOLIDATED ENTITY PARENT ENTITY 
 2008 

$ 
2007 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2007 

$ 
     
 Total debts 1,393,750 1,852,210 1,393,750 1,827,338 
 Less: cash and cash equivalents (3,211,415) (14,345) (3,210,924) (5,486)
 Net debt (1,817,665) 1,837,865 (1,817,174) 1,821,852 
 Total equity 6,637,149 (4,164,442)  6,718,586 (4,018,192)
 Total capital 4,819,484 (2,326,577) 4,901,412 (2,196,340)
     
 Gearing ratio     
 Net debt / total capital N/A N/A N/A N/A 
 Total debt/total equity 21% N/A 21% N/A 
 
27. Financial risk management  

 
The Group's and the Company’s principal financial instruments comprise receivables, payables, interest bearing 
borrowings and overdrafts, convertible notes, finance lease liabilities, cash and short-term deposits. 

 
Exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and currency risk arises in the normal course of the Group’s 
and the Company’s business. 
 
The Group manages its exposure to key financial risks, including interest rate and currency risk in accordance with 
the Group's financial risk management policy. The objective of the policy is to support the delivery of the Group's 
financial targets whilst protecting future financial security. 
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27. Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 

(a) Credit risk 
 

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade and other receivables.  The Group’s exposure to credit 
risk arises from potential default of the counter party, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of 
each financial asset in the balance sheet after deducting any impairment allowance. 
 
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. 
 
In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring 
credit over a certain amount.  These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making payments when due 
and current ability to pay, and take into account information specific to the customers as well as pertaining to the 
economic environment in which the customers operate.  Trade receivables are due within 0 to 30 days from the date 
of billing.  Debtors with balances that are more than 3 months past due are requested to settle all outstanding 
balances before any further credit is granted.  Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from customers. 
 
At the balance sheet date, the Group and the Company has a certain concentration of credit risk as 81% (2007: 7%) 
of the total trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer respectively.  
 
Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s and the Company’s exposure to credit risk arising from 
trade and other receivables are set out in note 10. 
 

(b) Liquidity risk 
 
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending covenants to 
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial 
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. 
 
The following table details the remaining contractual maturities at the balance sheet date of the Group’s financial 
assets and liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed 
using contractual rates, or if floating, based on rates current at the balance sheet date) and the earliest date the Group 
can be required to receive or pay.  Since the Company is the main operating entity, only the analysis for the Group’s 
contractual maturities of undiscounted cash flows of the financial assets and liabilities is presented. 

 

Year ended 30 June 2008 
Carrying 
amount 

Total contractual
undiscounted 

cash flow 

Within 1 
year or on 
demand 

More than 
1 year but 
less than 
2 years 

More than 
2 years but 
Less than 
5 years 

      
Financial assets      
Cash and cash equivalents 3,211,415 3,435,991 3,435,991 - - 
Trade receivables 63,532 63,532 63,532 - - 
Loan to non-related party 15,000 15,000 - 15,000 - 
 3,289,947 3,514,523 3,499,523 15,000 - 
Financial liabilities      
Trade and other payables 873,956 873,956 873,956 - - 
Bank overdrafts 723,342 798,063 798,063 - - 
Insurance premium funding 89,034 93,361 93,361 - - 
Finance lease liabilities 581,374 668,861 251,989 187,347 229,525 
Directors loan account 17,972 17,972 17,972 - - 
 2,285,678 2,452,213 2,035,341 187,347 229,525 
Net maturity 1,004,269 1,062,310 1,464,182 (172,347) (229,525)
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27. Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 

Year ended 30 June 2007 
Carrying 
amount 

Total contractual
undiscounted 

cash flow 

Within 1 
year or on 
demand 

More than 
1 year but 
less than 
2 years 

More than 
2 years but 
Less than 
5 years 

      
Financial assets      
Cash and cash equivalents 14,345 15,348 15,348 - - 
Trade receivables 8,988 8,988 8,988 - - 
 23,333 24,336 24,336 - - 
Financial liabilities      
Trade and other payables 1,132,999 1,132,999 1,132,999 - - 
Loan from related entity 5,715,336 5,715,336 5,715,336 - - 
Bank overdrafts 84,201 92,074 92,074 - - 
Insurance premium funding 162,797 169,419 169,419 - - 
Finance lease liabilities 561,553 647,490 200,402 199,793 247,295 
Convertible notes 1,043,659 1,269,894 60,041 1,209,853 - 
Directors loan account 405,827 405,827 405,827 - - 
 9,106,372 9,433,039 7,776,098 1,409,646 247,295 
Net maturity (9,083,039) (9,408,703) (7,751,762) (1,409,646) (247,295)

 
(c) Interest rate risk 
 

The Group’s and the Company’s interest rate risk arises primarily from interest bearing financial assets and financial 
liabilities.  Financial instruments issued at variable rates and at fixed rates expose the Group and the Company to 
cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest risk respectively.  At balance sheet date, the interest rate profile of 
the carrying value of the Group’s and the Company’s interest bearing financial assets and liabilities are set out in the 
following tables: 
 
 
Year ended 30 June 2008 

 Floating 
interest rate 

Fixed 
interest rate 

 
Total 

  $ $ $ 
Financial assets     
Cash and cash equivalents  3,071,415 140,000 3,211,415 
     
Financial liabilities     
Bank overdrafts  723,342 - 723,342 
Insurance premium funding  - 89,034 89,034 
Finance lease liabilities  - 581,374 581,374 
  723,342 670,408 1,393,750 
  2,348,073 (530,408) 1,817,665 
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27. Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 

(c) Interest rate risk (cont’d) 
 
 
Year ended 30 June 2007 

 Floating 
interest rate 

Fixed interest 
rate 

 
Total 

  $ $ $ 
Financial assets     
Cash and cash equivalents  14,345 - 14,345 
     
Financial liabilities     
Bank overdrafts  84,201 - 84,201 
Insurance premium funding  - 162,797 162,797 
Finance lease liabilities  - 561,553 561,553 
Convertible notes  - 1,043,659 1,043,659 
  84,201 1,768,009 1,852,210 
  (69,856) (1,768,009) (1,837,865)

 
The interest rates and terms of repayment of the Group’s and the Company’s borrowings are disclosed in note 18 to 
the financial statements. 

 
Cash flow sensitivity analysis for floating rate instruments 
An increase of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have decreased net loss and accumulated 
losses by $23,481 (2007: increased by $699).  A decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates will have the same 
amount but opposite financial effect on net loss and accumulated losses.  

 
The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at the 
balance sheet date and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for financial instruments in existence at 
that date.  The 100 basis point increase or decrease represents management’s assessment of a reasonably possible 
change in interest rates over the period until the next annual balance sheet date based on historical market trend.  The 
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2007. 

 
(d) Currency risk 
 

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency 
other than the functional currency of the operations to which they relate.  The currencies giving rise to this risk are 
primarily Euros, United States dollars, Hong Kong dollars and Swedish Kroner. 
 
All the Group’s borrowings are denominated in the functional currency of the entity taking out the loan. Given this, 
management does not expect that there will be any currency risk associated with the Group’s borrowings. 
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27. Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 

(d) Currency risk (cont’d) 
 
The following table details the Group’s and the Company’s exposure at the balance sheet date to currency risk 
arising from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity 
to which they relate. 
 
 2008 2007 
 

Euros US dollars 

Hong 
 Kong 
dollars Euros US dollars 

Swedish 
Kroner 

 EUR USD HKD EUR USD SEK 
 
Trade and other receivables 409 - - - - - 
Cash and cash equivalents - 320 1,185 - 3,627 - 
Trade and other payables (63,736) (802) - (22,340) - (238,290)
Overall net exposure (63,327) (482) 1,185 (22,340) 3,627 (238,290)

 
The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group’s loss after taxation and accumulated losses in 
response to reasonably possible changes in the foreign exchange rates to which the Group has significant exposure at 
the balance sheet date.  The sensitivity analysis includes balances between group companies where the denomination 
of the balances is in a currency other than the functional currencies of the lender or the borrower.  A positive number 
below indicates a decrease in net loss for the year and accumulated losses where the AUD strengthens against the 
relevant currency.  For a weakening of the AUD against the relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite 
impact on the net loss and accumulated losses, and the balances below would be negative. 
 
 2008  2007  

 

Increase in 
foreign 

exchange rates

Effect on 
loss for the 
year and 

accumulated 
losses 

Increase in 
foreign 

exchange 
rates 

Effect on 
loss for the 
year and 

accumulated 
losses 

  $  $ 
Euros 10% (10,148) 10% (3,720)
    
United States dollars 10% (57) 10% 427 
    
Hong Kong dollars 10% 16 - - 
    
Swedish Kroner - - 10% (4,146)
 
The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the 
balance sheet date and had been applied to each of the group entities; exposure to currency risk for financial 
instruments in existence at that date, and that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. 
 
The stated changes represent management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates 
over the period until the next annual balance sheet date. Results of the analysis as presented in the above table 
represent an aggregation of the effects on each of the group entities’ net loss for the year and accumulated losses 
measured in the respective functional currencies, translated into AUD at the exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet 
date for presentation purposes.  The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2007. 
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27. Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 

(e) Fair value estimation 
 

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially different from their fair values as at 30 June 2008 and 
2007, except for directors loan accounts and convertible notes as at 30 June 2007.  The directors loan accounts were 
unsecured, interest free and, had no fixed repayment terms and have been settled during the year.  The convertible 
notes were converted to equity during the year.  
 
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for 
disclosure purposes. 
 
The carrying value less impairment provisions of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their 
fair values due to their short term nature. The fair value of financial liabilities is estimated by discounting the future 
contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial 
instruments, as detailed in notes 16 and 18.  The directors consider that the change in interest rates will not cause a 
significant impact on the fair values of the financial liabilities. 
 

28. Summary of financial instruments by category 
 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities as recognised at 30 June 2008 and 2007 
may be categorised as follows: 

 
 CONSOLIDATED ENTITY PARENT ENTITY 
 2008 

$ 
2007 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2007 

$ 
Financial assets     
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash 

equivalents) 
 

3,289,947 
 

23,333 
 

3,289,456 
 

5,586 
     
Financial liabilities     
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 2,285,678 9,106,372 2,285,678 9,053,137 
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 

 
 

 
In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Automotive Technology Group Limited, we state that: 
 
1. In the opinion of the directors: 
 
a. The financial statements and notes included in the directors’ report designation as audited, of the Company 

and of the consolidated entity are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 
 

(i) comply with the Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 
 
(ii) give a true and fair view of the Company’s and consolidated entity’s financial positions as at 30 June 

2008 and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and 
 
b. There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 

become due and payable. 
 
2. This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the directors in 
accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 with the exception of the Chief Financial Officer 
declaration for reason explained on page 15, for the financial year ended 30 June 2008. 
 
 
Dated at Perth this 30th day of September 2008. 
 

 
 
 
______________________ 
Anthony Robert Hamilton 
Director 
 

 
 
_____________________ 
Steven Apedaile 
Director 
 



 
 

  Liability limited by a scheme approved 
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Independent Auditor’s report to the Members of Automotive Technology Group Limited 

Report on the Financial Report 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Automotive Technology Group Limited, which comprises 
the balance sheet as at 30 June 2008, and the income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash 
flow statement for the year ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies, other explanatory 
notes and the directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it 
controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year. 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report 

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in 
accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and 
the Corporations Act 2001.  This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant 
to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates 
that are reasonable in the circumstances. In Note 2, the directors also state that the financial report, 
comprising the financial statements and notes, complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.  

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report and the remuneration report based on our 
audit.  We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards 
require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial report. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
we consider internal controls relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report 
and the remuneration report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Independence 

In conducting our audit we have met the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.  We have 
given to the directors of the company a written Auditor’s Independence Declaration, a copy of which is included 
in the directors’ report.  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PMI:KT:ATG:002 

Auditor’s Opinion 

In our opinion:  
1. the financial report of Automotive Technology Group Limited is in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001, including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the financial position of Automotive Technology Group Limited and 
the consolidated entity at 30 June 2008 and of their performance for the year ended on that 
date; and 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 
Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

2. the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board. 

Report on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 9 to 14 of the directors’ report for the year ended 
30 June 2008. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing Standards. 

Auditor’s Opinion 

In our opinion the Remuneration Report of Automotive Technology Group Limited for the year ended 30 June 
2008, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 

 
Ernst & Young 
 

 
 
 
P McIver 
Partner 
Perth 
30 September 2008 
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ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

 
 

 
The following additional information is provided in accordance with the listing rules and is current as at 18 September 2008. 
 
(a) Distribution of equity securities 
 
(i) Ordinary share capital 

 
102,944,000 fully paid ordinary shares are held by 271 individual shareholders. All issued ordinary shares carry one 
vote per share and carry the rights to dividends. 

 
(ii) Converting performance shares  

 
17,099,500 Class “A” Converting Performance Shares and 17,099,500 new Class “B” Converting Performance 
Shares are held by 60 and 60 individual shareholders respectively. 
 
Subject to performance criteria associated with the operating results of the Group, each Class “A” or Class “B” 
Converting Performance Share is entitled to convert to 1 ordinary shares of the Company.  Both Class “A” and Class 
“B” Converting Performance Shares do not entitle the holder to vote on any resolutions proposed at a general meeting 
of shareholders, do not entitle the holder to any dividends, not transferable and can only participate in the surplus 
profits or assets of the Company upon winding up of the Company only to the extent of $0.0001 per Class “A” or 
Class “B” Converting Performance Share. 
 

(iii) Options 
 

6,500,000 options are held by 4 individual option holders.  Options do not carry a right to vote. 
 
The number of shareholders, by size of holding, in each class is: 
 

  
Fully Paid 
Ordinary 

Shares 

Converting 
Performing 

Shares – Class 
B 

Converting 
Performing 

Shares – Class 
A 

 
 

Options 

1 – 1,000 - - - - 
1,001 - 5,000 15 1 1 - 
5,001 - 10,000 42 2 2 - 
10,001 - 100,000 144 39 39 - 
100,001 and over 70 18 18 4 
 271 60 60 4 
     
Holding less than a marketable parcel 1    

 
(b) Substantial shareholders 
 

 Fully paid 
Ordinary shareholders Number Percentage 
   
Euro Mark Limited 17,700,004  17.19% 
Mr Steven James Apedaile and his controlled entities 14,144,170  13.74% 
Mr Anthony Hamilton and his controlled entities 13,863,170  13.47% 
China Automotive Holdings Limited, controlled by Mr Richard Siemens 13,860,170  13.46% 
 59,560,514 57.86% 
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(c) Largest twenty shareholders 
   

 Fully paid 
Ordinary shareholders Number Percentage 
   
Euro Mark Limited 17,700,004  17.19% 
China Automotive Holdings Limited 13,860,170  13.46% 
Mr Steven James Apedaile & Mrs Michelle Lynda Apedaile ATF Apedaile 
Family Trust 13,360,170  12.98% 
CMIH Enterprises Pty Ltd 9,331,394  9.06% 
ANZ Nominees Limited 5,445,000  5.29% 
Fortis Clearing Nominees Pty Limited 5,283,000  5.13% 
Four Paws Investments Pty Ltd 4,528,776  4.40% 
I-Biz Limited 3,300,000  3.21% 
Bond Street Custodians Limited 1,800,000  1.75% 
Ms Celia Mi Choi Kwong 1,572,000  1.53% 
Daily Power Pty Ltd 1,500,000  1.46% 
Capital Union Pty Ltd 1,250,000  1.21% 
Bulk Nominees Pty Ltd 1,000,000  0.97% 
Mr Euan Alexander Barty & Ms Patricia Ann Malone 880,000  0.85% 
Jason Tranter No 1 Pty Ltd 675,000  0.66% 
Mr Thomas Prentice Thomson 656,000  0.64% 
Saruman Holdings Pty Ltd 636,000  0.62% 
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited – A/C 2 600,000  0.58% 
Powertraveller Pty Ltd 500,000  0.49% 
Jungle City Investments Limited 480,000 0.47% 
 84,357,514  81.95% 
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